## Personality and Risk of Physical Illness

## Timothy W. Smith and Justin MacKenzie

Department of Psychology, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, Utah 84112; email: tim.smith@psych.utah.edu

**Key Words** personality, health, hostility, neuroticism, optimism

■ **Abstract** Several personality characteristics have been linked in multiple well-designed prospective studies to subsequent physical health outcomes, such as longevity and the development and course of cardiovascular disease. The evidence is strongest for negative affectivity/neuroticism, anger/hostility and related traits, and optimism. Models of mechanisms underlying these associations have emphasized physiological effects of stress, exposure to stressors, and health behavior. Preliminary evidence supports the viability of some mechanisms, but formal mediational tests are lacking. In addition to addressing limitations and inconsistencies in this literature, future research should address developmental aspects of these psychosocial risk factors, contextual moderators of their health effects, and intervention applications in the prevention and management of disease. In these efforts, greater incorporation of concepts and methods in the structural, social-cognitive, and interpersonal perspectives in the field of personality are needed.

#### CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	436
CONCEPTUAL AND METHODOLOGICAL ISSUES	436
Conceptualizing and Measuring Personality	437
Quantifying Health Outcomes and Testing Associations	439
Mechanisms Linking Personality and Disease	441
PERSONALITY CHARACTERISTICS LINKED TO HEALTH	443
The Evolution of the Coronary-Prone Behavior Pattern	443
Chronic Negative Affect	446
Optimism-Pessimism	448
Other Traits	449
CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE ISSUES	450
The Importance of Context	451
Clinical Applications	454

#### INTRODUCTION

The hypothesis that personality influences the development and course of physical illness has appeared many times and in many forms throughout the history of medicine (McMahon 1976, Smith & Gallo 2001). In recent decades, it played a central role in the emergence and evolution of the interrelated fields of behavioral medicine, health psychology, and psychosomatic medicine (Stone et al. 1979, Surwit et al. 1982, Weiss et al. 1981), and contributed to a resurgence of interest in personality research within psychology (Contrada et al. 1999, Wiebe & Smith 1997). Long-standing skepticism in the medical community (e.g., Angel 1985) has eroded with the accumulation of methodologically sound research. However, inconsistent findings, alternative interpretations, and unresolved questions pose important challenges for future research.

Some topics in personality and health research were so widely reported that they entered popular culture, as in the case of Friedman & Rosenman's (1959) groundbreaking description of the Type A behavior pattern. Other hypotheses and conclusions, such as the role of chronic negative affect in disease (Friedman & Booth-Kewley 1987), were initially met by thoughtful and heuristically valuable critiques (e.g., Matthews 1988, Stone & Costa 1990), and appeared again later with more convincing support (Suls & Bunde 2005). Topics such as the concept of psychological hardiness (Kobasa 1979) were central in the emergence of personality and health research (Suls & Rittenhouse 1987) and can still be seen as important influences on subsequent developments, even though they faded in prominence as the field evolved. In addition, new topics based in mainstream personality theory have emerged as potentially important influences on health, such as the role of conscientiousness (Friedman et al. 1993).

Answers to age-old questions about mind-body associations are inherently interesting and important. However, research on personality and health can also guide the design of potentially useful interventions for the prevention and management of physical illness. In this chapter, we provide a review of the current state of research on personality characteristics as predictors of the development and course of physical illness. The equally important role of personality as an influence on adaptation to physical illness (Contrada et al. 1999, Smith & Ruiz 2004) is beyond our present scope. To provide a context for our review, we first present basic issues in the field. After reviewing the literature linking personality and health, we conclude with a discussion of future research directions and implications for clinical application.

#### CONCEPTUAL AND METHODOLOGICAL ISSUES

The hypothesis that personality influences health appears straightforward but has proven to be conceptually complex and methodologically challenging. This is true for the conceptualization and measurement of its two major components, as well

as for tests of their association and the explication of mechanisms underlying such associations.

### Conceptualizing and Measuring Personality

Current personality theory and research have much to offer in the study of psychosocial risk, beginning with the measurement of personality risk factors. A wide variety of personality constructs and measures have been used as predictors of health, posing challenges for the interpretation and integration of findings. In many instances, scales are developed and used without adequate examination of their psychometric properties, especially construct validity. There is often little beyond the scale content to support the assertion that it measures the intended construct as opposed to another, perhaps better-established, characteristic. In such instances, studies might "reinvent constructs under new labels" (Holroyd & Coyne 1987). Similarly, in any specific topic in personality and health research, it is possible that despite similar labels scales may actually assess quite distinct traits.

The emergence of the Five Factor model (FFM) as a generally accepted taxonomy of broad personality traits (Digman 1990, McCrae & John 1992) and the
related availability of well-validated measures can address this problem. The five
factors and their facets or components (Costa & McCrae 1992) provide a nomological net (Cronbach & Meehl 1955) to guide efforts to compare, contrast, and
integrate personality constructs and scales used in health research. Associations
of scales under consideration with the FFM traits and facets can clarify the nature
of the construct(s) they assess, as well as identify similarities and differences with
scales used in other health studies (Friedman et al. 1995, Marshall et al. 1994,
Smith & Williams 1992). Research of this sort could help bring order to what
often seems to be an unwieldy, unsystematic, and uncritical proliferation of personality measures and constructs in health research. The general trait perspective
also includes well-established methodological principles for the development and
evaluation of personality scales (Ozer 1999, West & Finch 1997). More frequent,
theory-driven application of these procedures is needed.

The FFM and other trait approaches can help to clarify *which* personality factors predict health, but do less in describing *how* these risk factors are related to cognitive, emotional, and behavioral processes that in turn affect health. Although there are important exceptions (McCrae & Costa 1996), most presentations of the FFM and other trait taxonomies focus on the structure of personality or characteristics that persons *have* as opposed to personality processes and things that people *do* (Cantor 1990). The social-cognitive tradition in current personality theory and research is particularly useful in this regard. Although no consensus exists regarding a taxonomy of social-cognitive personality constructs, major theoretical statements have described an extensive list (e.g., Mischel & Shoda 1998). These include mental representations (i.e., schemas) of self, others, relationships, and social interaction sequences (i.e., scripts); expectancies, goals, motives, and life tasks; appraisals or encoding of people and situations; self-regulation and coping;

and strategies, competencies, and tactics in goal-directed action. This perspective describes personality through the content of such characteristics, as well as the manner in which the characteristics are activated or accessible and the associations among them. These concepts provide a more active and specific process account of individual differences that complements the broader and more static description inherent in most trait approaches. Research examining associations between global traits and social-cognitive characteristics has identified mechanisms through which traits influence affect and behavior (e.g., Graziano et al. 1996). This approach is likely to prove useful in explicating the mechanisms through which personality characteristics influence health, as well as the identification of specific targets for risk reducing interventions.

Another major tenet of this view is that the consistency in personality may be better captured at the level of patterns of behavioral response to variation in specific types of situations rather than at the level of broad traits and aggregated behavior (Mischel 2004). For example, a pattern of hostile responses to perceptions of mistreatment by persons in authority and warmth toward lower-status persons reflects a potentially very different personality characteristic than does a pattern of warmth toward persons in authority and hostility toward subordinates, even if the aggregated mean level of hostility versus warmth is equivalent. Hence, "if—then" patterns of situation-specific behavior or "behavioral signatures" (Mischel 2004) provide an intriguing alternative to trait conceptualizations in predicting health outcomes.

Most research on psychosocial risk factors for disease characterizes these variables as either aspects of people (e.g., personality traits) or the social-environmental circumstances they inhabit (e.g., social isolation, conflict). Yet personality risk factors are consistently associated with social-environmental risk factors. For example, social support (versus social integration) and job stress are two of the most well established social-environmental risk factors. Personality characteristics both predict and are predicted by experiences in personal relationships and at work (Roberts et al. 2003, Robins et al. 2002). Further, some social-environmental risk factors such as social support display stability over time and across situations, strong correlations with personality characteristics, and even evidence of heritability. That is, these variables sometimes appear more like personality traits than independent external social circumstances to which individuals are simply exposed. Conventional trait approaches describe personality and social circumstances or situations as independent domains that interact only statistically to influence behavior, emotion, and other responses (Endler & Magnusson 1976). However, personality traits seem to influence exposure to health-relevant social circumstances rather than simply moderate reactions to this purportedly separate class of influences on health. Hence, the distinction between person characteristics and social environmental factors is somewhat artificial and potentially impedes the development of a more integrative view of risk.

The interpersonal approach to personality (Kiesler 1996, Pincus & Ansell 2003) provides additional resources in this regard. This approach assumes an inherent

association between personality and social circumstances, evident in Sullivan's (1953, p. 111) definition of personality as "the relatively enduring pattern of interpersonal situations which characterize a human life." Consistent with socialcognitive models suggesting that personality and social situations are reciprocally related (Bandura 1978, Mischel & Shoda 1998), the interpersonal approach describes the ways in which people shape and are shaped by the social contexts they encounter. In interpersonal theory, this concept is articulated as the transactional cycle (Carson 1969, Kiesler 1996). Intraindividual factors such as those described in the social-cognitive perspective (e.g., expectancies, goals, appraisals) guide overt social behavior. Once expressed, the actor's behavior tends to restrict the experience of interaction partners in such a way as to evoke interpersonal responses that are consistent with the actor's original expectancies, affect, or internal representations. In this way, trusting or optimistic individuals behave in a warm manner toward others, tending to evoke positive responses that confirm and maintain their positive outlook. The resulting stability of the reciprocal interaction patterns contributes to the apparent stability of both personality and aspects of the social environment (Caspi et al. 1989, Smith & Spiro 2002, Wagner et al. 1995).

The interpersonal approach describes social behavior as varying along two basic dimensions (i.e., dominance versus submissiveness and friendliness versus hostility), forming a structural model of interpersonal behavior—the interpersonal circumplex (Kiesler 1983, Wiggins 1979). The circumplex can be used equally well to describe aspects of the social environment such as social support (Trobst 2000) or personality traits (Wiggins & Broughton 1991). In this manner, it provides common concepts and methods for integrating personality and social—environmental risk factors (Gallo & Smith 1999) and for examining psychophysiological mechanisms underlying their association with health (Smith et al. 2003).

The circumplex can be used to compare and contrast personality characteristics through the use of several quantitative approaches (Gurtman & Pincus 2003), much like the construct validation process (described above) utilizing the FFM. One particularly useful version of the FFM replaces introversion versus extraversion and agreeableness versus antagonism with the dimensions of the interpersonal circumplex (Trapnell & Wiggins 1990), and has been used to clarify the nature of constructs studied in personality and health research (e.g., Gallo & Smith 1998). The dimensions of the circumplex have also been conceptualized as broad social motives. Agency refers to striving for separateness, achievement, and power, whereas communion refers to striving for connection and concern for others (Wiggins & Trapnell 1996). This motivational framework has been discussed as relevant to risk for physical disease (Helgeson 2003).

## **Quantifying Health Outcomes and Testing Associations**

Many different health endpoints have been studied in personality and health research. Some are straightforward, as in the case of longevity in initially healthy samples or survival among persons with pre-existing disease. Increasingly in this

literature, the incidence and course of specific diseases assessed through accepted diagnostic procedures (e.g., myocardial infarction verified by ECG changes and cardiac enzyme elevations) serve as health outcomes. In contrast, earlier studies often utilized convenient but ambiguous health endpoints, such as self-reported symptoms and self-rated health status. These variables are most accurately seen as reflecting illness behavior—things that people often do when ill—rather than the underlying disease itself. Such measures are certainly associated with actual health and disease. For example, self-ratings of general health or physical function predict longevity in prospective studies, even when initial diagnoses of disease and traditional medical risk factors are statistically controlled (Idler & Benyamini 1997, Myint et al. 2005). However, self-reports of illness or health status and other measures of illness behavior also likely contain systematic variance that is unrelated to actual health (Costa & McCrae 1987, Watson & Pennebaker 1989), such as the tendency to deny or minimize illness (e.g., stoicism) or the tendency to exaggerate descriptions of health problems (i.e., unfounded or excessive somatic complaints). As a result, associations between these measures and personality traits could reflect an association with actual disease, illness behavior independent of disease, or a combination of these effects. This is not to say that personality and health research should always be limited to endpoints such as mortality and verified disease. Symptoms and well-being are important in comprehensive models of health and quality of life (Ryff & Singer 1998), and health care utilization is an increasingly important outcome, given economic considerations. However, when research questions concern actual disease, measures even partially reflecting illness behavior have obvious limitations.

The association between personality characteristics and physical health can be tested in a variety of designs. A common approach compares persons with and without a given disease on the personality construct of interest (i.e., case-control designs). In this cross-sectional design, it is difficult to determine if associations reflect a potential cause of disease or a psychological reaction to it (Cohen & Rodriguez 1995), as when patients with clinically apparent coronary disease score higher on measures of anxiety, depression, or other negative affects than do matched controls. Recent developments in medical imaging have created opportunities for more informative cross-sectional designs. Ultrasound and computed tomography scan technologies, for example, provide noninvasive assessments of asymptomatic or preclinical indications of disease. Associations between personality traits and these "silent" disease states are less likely to reflect psychological reactions to disease than are effects involving clinically apparent disease. These assessments have the further advantage of testing associations between personality and earlier stages of disease. In studies of mortality or the incidence of diagnosed disease, it is unclear at what point in a potentially decades-long etiology personality may be playing a contributing role.

The advantages of newer cross-sectional designs notwithstanding, prospective designs are much more informative. However, the correlational nature of prospective designs poses other threats to internal validity. Unmeasured third variables are

always a concern, especially in light of the fact that the etiology of most serious illness is multifactorial. Even when potential third variables are carefully articulated, the measures may not exhaust variance in the confounding factor. The possible undercorrection of confounds is a common source of alternative interpretations even for prospective associations between carefully assessed personality characteristics and unambiguous health outcomes (Phillips & Davey Smith 1991).

Other cautions are important in the statistical analysis of correlated risk factors. Traditional epidemiological methods emphasize the identification of independent risk. However, some confounds may actually reflect mediating mechanisms (Baron & Kenny 1986). Personality traits might influence subsequent disease through the mechanisms of health behavior (e.g., smoking) or biological consequences of psychological stress (e.g., elevated blood pressure or cholesterol). Statistical control of these previously established risk factors might lead to the conclusion that associations between personality and health outcomes are unimportant, when the analysis can also be interpreted as suggesting a mediational explanation. In other cases, correlated personality traits might compete in analyses, forcing their independence when their overlap exists for good reason, as in the case when they reflect distinct but related facets of a multicomponent construct (Suls & Bunde 2005). A narrow view of the statistical independence criteria could lead to the erroneous conclusion that neither characteristic is an important risk factor. Similarly, if a measure of a social-environmental risk factor (e.g., social isolation) and a related personality risk factor (e.g., negative affectivity) are forced to be independent, a causally important pattern of covariation between personality and social environment might be erroneously interpreted as conferring no independent risk. Statistical control procedures are essential in nonexperimental research. However, they should be used in a theory-driven manner rather than in a simplistic pursuit of independent risk. The articulation and examination of possible confounds are invaluable in psychosocial epidemiology, but this process must be balanced by considering the implications of creating counterfactual (Meehl 1970) independence among naturally bundled risk factors.

### Mechanisms Linking Personality and Disease

Several general models of mechanisms underlying associations between personality and subsequent health have been described (Cohen 1979, Suls & Sanders 1989, Wiebe & Smith 1997). Health behavior models suggest that personality influences health-relevant daily habits (e.g., smoking, diet, exercise) and other health practices (e.g., medical screening). A wide variety of health behaviors are associated with the major domains of personality (Booth-Kewley & Vickers 1994), and these factors could mediate the association between personality and subsequent disease. The interactional stress moderation model specifies physiological rather than behavioral mechanisms. This view suggests that personality influences the appraisal of potentially stressful life circumstances as well as coping responses. Appraisal and coping influence physiological responses to stress (i.e., neuroendocrine responses,

immune functioning and inflammation, cardiovascular responses) that in turn contribute to the development of disease (Schneiderman et al. 2005).

The transactional stress moderation model also identifies personality effects on appraisal, coping, and physiological reactivity as an important mechanism, but posits an additional pathway in the stress process. As in the interpersonal approach, personality is seen as influencing the individual's exposure to potential stressors (e.g., interpersonal conflict) and the degree of stress-reducing interpersonal resources (e.g., social support). Through their decisions to enter some situations and not others, the reactions they unintentionally evoke from other people, and their intentional alteration of social situations, people influence the interpersonal contexts they encounter (Buss 1987). In this way, personality can influence the frequency, magnitude, and duration of exposure to stressors in daily life, as well as the availability of stress-reducing social resources. This exposure mechanism would augment the contribution of personality to reactivity to everyday stressors (Bolger & Schilling 1991, Bolger & Zuckerman 1995).

Constitutional predisposition models describe a noncausal association between personality and health. In this view, an underlying genetic or other constitutional factor produces both a physiologic vulnerability to disease and the behavioral, emotional, and cognitive phenotype of personality. However, the personality characteristic and the disease are otherwise causally unrelated coeffects of this underlying factor. In the illness behavior model, personality influences perception of and attention to normal physiological sensations, the labeling of such sensations as symptoms of illness, the reporting of symptoms, and the utilization of health care—but not actual disease (cf. Williams 2004).

Each of these models could account for prospective associations between personality and health outcomes. Inclusion of measures of health outcomes that reflect disease rather than illness behavior provides a test of the illness behavior model. Thorough assessment and statistical control of health behavior can test the health behavior model, with the cautions regarding statistical control and undercorrection of correlated risks (i.e., residual confounding) described above. Both of these methodological features have been sufficiently common in the literature to support the conclusion that neither the illness behavior model nor the health behavior model provides a complete account of the prospective association between personality and health.

Tests of the other three models are possible, but far less common. For example, molecular genetic studies have identified—at least in preliminary findings—genes associated with several personality traits studied as health risk factors. Measurement of these genotypes in prospective studies of personality and health could provide a test of this general view. However, these advances in molecular genetics also provide opportunities to test other potentially important models of risk (e.g., genetic diathesis by stress interactions, gene-environment correlations) that are the focus of research in other psychological fields (see, e.g., Moffitt et al. 2005, Rutter & Silberg 2002) but not yet addressed in the study of personality and health. Similarly, assessment of physiological stress responses and stress exposures could

provide an opportunity to test the interactional and transactional stress moderation models. However, few studies have been designed in such a way as to permit the evaluation of these mechanisms.

#### PERSONALITY CHARACTERISTICS LINKED TO HEALTH

Rather than attempt to comprehensively review all traits studied as risk factors, we focus here on research testing prospective associations with objective health outcomes. Much of this research has focused on longevity or mortality as a health outcome, or coronary heart disease (CHD) when specific diseases are studied. As a result, these outcomes are common in the studies reviewed below. In addition to conclusions regarding associations with subsequent health, we also briefly describe measurement issues and research evaluating potential mechanisms.

#### The Evolution of the Coronary-Prone Behavior Pattern

Following Friedman & Rosenman's (1959) description of the Type A behavior pattern (TABP) as a coronary risk factor, 20 years of research generally supported this hypothesis (Cooper et al. 1981). However, notable failures to replicate appeared soon thereafter (e.g., Ragland & Brand 1988; Shekelle et al. 1985a,b). A quantitative review indicated that the overall association between the TABP and CHD was significant and that much of the inconsistency could be attributed to methodological factors (Miller et al. 1991). The effects of the TABP were more apparent in studies of the incidence of CHD among initially healthy individuals than in studies of high-risk populations, such as persons with pre-existing CHD. Furthermore, these associations were stronger in studies using interview-based behavioral ratings of the TABP than in those using self-reports. The most extensively studied model of the mechanism underlying this association is the interactional stress-moderation model. Compared with their more relaxed Type B counterparts, Type A individuals display larger cardiovascular and neuroendocrine responses to a variety of stressors (Houston 1989). Transactional mechanisms also may contribute to this association, in that Type A individuals select more challenging tasks and often evoke competitive and antagonistic behavior from others (Smith & Anderson 1986).

The inconsistent association between the TABP and CHD led investigators to examine individual facets of this multicomponent construct on the assumption that some specific characteristics may be more relevant to health than are others. These studies identified behavioral ratings of hostility as the best predictor of CHD among the various Type A traits (Dembroski et al. 1989, Hecker et al. 1988, Matthews et al. 1977). Prospective studies using self-report measures of hostility supported this conclusion (Barefoot et al. 1983, Shekelle et al. 1983). Despite the appearance of some negative findings, a quantitative review of studies published before 1995 supported the conclusion that hostility was associated with increased risk of CHD and all-cause mortality (Miller et al. 1996).

Although some subsequent prospective studies of initially healthy individuals have failed to replicate this effect (Eng et al. 2003, Surtees et al. 2005, Sykes et al. 2002), the majority of such studies support the prior conclusion (Chang et al. 2002, Everson et al. 1997b, Gallacher et al. 1999, Kawachi et al. 1996, Matthews et al. 2004a, Williams et al. 2000). Studies of various stages of CHD suggest that hostility might play a role across the development and course of the condition. Individual differences in hostility and anger are associated with early indications of atherosclerosis such as endothelial dysfunction (Gottdiener et al. 2003, Harris et al. 2003) and with measures of more advanced but still asymptomatic atherosclerosis in otherwise healthy individuals (Iribarren et al. 2000, Matthews et al. 1998, Raikkonen et al. 2004), although some studies have not found this association (O'Malley et al. 2000).

Some recent studies suggest that anger and hostility are not associated with the course of established CHD (Kaufman et al. 1999, Welin et al. 2000). However, others (Smith et al. 2004a) indicate that self-reports or behavioral ratings of hostility are associated with increased risk of progression of atherosclerosis, recurrent coronary events, and death among individuals at high risk for disease as well as patients with pre-existing CHD (Angerer et al. 2000, Boyle et al. 2004, Chaput et al. 2002, Matthews et al. 2004a, Olson et al. 2005). Hostility also predicts restenosis of coronary arteries following angioplasty (Goodman et al. 1996, Mendes De Leon et al. 1996). Measures of trait anger and hostility have also been associated with the occurrence of myocardial ischemia among persons with CHD (Burg et al. 1993, Helmers et al. 1993, Rosenberg et al. 2001). Hence, prospective associations of these personality traits with the incidence of CHD and mortality could reflect effects during early, middle, and late stages of disease development, although the effects are generally stronger and more consistent for the initial development of disease as opposed to its course (Miller et al. 1996). Anger and hostility have also been found to predict the development of hypertension and stroke (e.g., Everson et al. 1999, Rutledge & Hogan 2002, Williams et al. 2002, Yan et al. 2003).

A wide variety of scales and rating systems are used in these studies (Barefoot & Lipkus 1994, Smith et al. 2004a). Interview-based behavioral ratings demonstrate generally consistent associations with subsequent health, but evidence of construct validity in the form of associations with other measures of anger, hostility, or aggressive behavior is limited. Of the many self-report instruments used in this research, the Cook & Medley (1954) hostility (Ho) scale is the most widely used, in large part because it is from the Minnesota Multiphasic Inventory (MMPI) item pool. The availability of several large samples in which the MMPI was administered previously facilitated the accumulation of longitudinal tests of hypotheses about hostility by conducting follow-up health assessments. Supportive findings from these studies encouraged the continued use of the Ho scale. Although the Ho scale demonstrates expected associations with other measures of this trait, it also has a poorly defined internal structure and substantial overlap with personality traits beyond the conceptual definition of this domain (Smith et al. 2004a). Measurement research has clarified the structure of this general personality domain

(e.g., Martin et al. 2000), and applications of the FFM and interpersonal circumplex have provided ties to well-established personality frameworks (Costa et al. 1989, Gallo & Smith 1998).

Research on mechanisms linking hostility and health has focused primarily on interactional stress moderation models. In this view, hostile individuals are seen as responding to potential stressors with larger and more prolonged heart rate, blood pressure, and neuroendocrine (e.g., cortisol, catecholamines) changes, relative to nonhostile persons. These responses are hypothesized to contribute to cardiovascular and other diseases (Williams et al. 1985). Many studies have demonstrated that hostile people display such responses in the laboratory (e.g., Smith & Gallo 1999, Suarez et al. 1998) and during daily life (Benotsch et al. 1997, Brondolo et al. 2003, Guyll & Contrada 1998, Pope & Smith 1991). In recent studies, hostility is positively associated with inflammatory markers (Suarez 2003, Suarez et al. 2002, Miller et al. 2003), suggesting another psychophysiological mechanism linking hostility with CHD (Libby 2003) and other negative health outcomes (Kiecolt-Glaser et al. 2002). Hostility is consistently associated with increased exposure to interpersonal stressors and reduced levels of social support (Smith et al. 2004a). This psychosocial vulnerability could contribute to the health consequences of hostility and could reflect transactional processes through which hostile persons engender a social environment high in conflict and low in support.

Hostility is associated with a variety of negative health behaviors (Siegler et al. 2003), and at least one study supports the hypothesis that health behavior mediates the association between hostility and subsequent health (Everson et al. 1997b). However, in most prospective studies, statistical control of these factors does not eliminate the effects of hostility (Miller et al. 1996). Individual differences in hostility demonstrate moderate heritability (e.g., Smith et al. 1991), and specific genotypes have been identified in preliminary studies (Jang et al. 2001, Manuck et al. 1999). Such findings are consistent with constitutional predisposition models positing genetically based central mechanisms accounting for the statistical association between hostility and health (Kaplan et al. 1994, Williams 1994).

There is some evidence that hostility is not the only unhealthy aspect of the TABP. Behavioral ratings of hostility and a socially dominant style—consisting of vigorous speech and the tendency to talk over interaction partners—are independently related to incident CHD and premature death (Houston et al. 1992, 1997). Self-reports of dominance are also associated with increased risk of CHD (Siegman et al. 2000, Whiteman et al. 1997). These results converge with findings from a nonhuman primate model of social behavior and atherosclerosis (Kaplan & Manuck 1998). Socially dominant male macaques develop atherosclerosis more readily than do subordinate males in response to chronic social stress. This vulnerability was eliminated through the administration of beta-adrenergic blockade, a finding that suggests sympathetic activation associated with chronic challenges to social status contributes to this association between individual differences in social behavior and subsequent cardiovascular disease. This is consistent with the interactional stress moderation model of personality and health. In humans, the

act of asserting dominance and attempting to influence others evokes heightened cardiovascular responses (Smith et al. 1989a, 2000).

## **Chronic Negative Affect**

Individual differences in negative affect such as anxiety and sadness have figured prominently in research on personality and health, although the topic has at times been controversial. Mostly commonly labeled neuroticism or negative affectivity, this personality characteristic is generally defined as "the tendency to experience distress, and the cognitive and behavioral styles that follow from this tendency" (McCrae & John 1992, p. 195). An influential quantitative review concluded that this trait conferred risk of serious illness and premature mortality (Friedman & Booth-Kewley 1987), but the review was criticized for the inclusion of studies assessing illness behavior rather than actual disease and others possibly demonstrating consequences of disease rather than contributing causes (Matthews 1988, Stone & Costa 1990). Neuroticism and negative affectivity are associated with excessive somatic complaints (Costa & McCrea 1987, Watson & Pennebaker 1989), and serious physical illness certainly can cause emotional distress. However, a large body of research now supports the prior conclusion that this personality trait predicts serious health problems (Smith & Gallo 2001, Suls & Bunde 2005).

There are important issues in the conceptualization and measurement of this risk factor. This global trait includes several more specific characteristics, including anxiety, depressive symptoms, worry, anger and irritability, self-consciousness, and low self-esteem (Costa & McCrae 1987, Watson & Clark 1984). Scales with labels that imply the measurement of specific dimensions or constructs (e.g., trait anxiety, depressive symptoms, self-esteem) are often psychometrically indistinguishable from measures of the broader domain and measures of other specific elements within it (Watson & Clark 1984). Further, many measures with labels quite different from this personality domain are actually quite closely related. Hence, research in this area is often complicated by measurement problems (described above) in which scale labels imply more specificity than can be demonstrated in construct validation research. In addition, this domain reflects variation in negative affect and related responses within the range of normal functioning, as opposed to clinically diagnosable emotional disorder. Important differences exist between individual differences in chronic negative emotion and emotional disorder (Cohen & Rodriguez 1995, Coyne 1994, Watson et al. 1994). However, individuals with clinically diagnosable anxiety or depressive disorders score high on measures of negative affectivity or neuroticism (Clark et al. 1994), and high levels of this trait are associated with increased risk of subsequent anxiety and mood disorders (Hirschfeld et al. 1989, Zonderman et al. 1993). Hence, unless clinical disorders are assessed, studies of the associations between this personality trait and later disease could involve the effects of undiagnosed mood or anxiety disorders. Similarly, prospective associations between anxiety and mood disorders with health outcomes could involve the effect of this personality trait.

Several studies have demonstrated that measures of anxiety and depression are prospectively associated with increases in blood pressure and the development of hypertension (Davidson et al. 2000, Jones et al. 1997, Markovitz et al. 1991, Rutledge & Hogan 2002, Spiro et al. 1995), though others have not supported this association (Yan et al. 2003). Among persons with hypertension, negative affectivity has been associated with increased risk of stroke and death from cardiovascular disease (Simonsick et al. 1995). In studies of initially healthy individuals, various measures of anxiety, depressive symptoms, general emotional distress, and other specific constructs in this domain (e.g., self-esteem, worry) have been associated with subsequent CHD (Albert et al. 2005, Anda et al. 1993, Barefoot & Schroll 1996, Eaker et al. 1992, Ford et al. 1998, Kawachi et al. 1994, Kubzansky et al. 1997, Pennix et al. 2001, Rowan et al. 2005, Todaro et al. 2003), atherosclerosis (Haas et al. 2005), stroke (May et al. 2002), diabetes (Golden et al. 2004), and earlier all-cause mortality (Gump et al. 2005, Herman et al. 1998, Martin et al. 1995, Somervell et al. 1989, Stamatakis et al. 2004). Among persons with existing CHD, measures of emotional distress predict recurrent coronary events and reduced survival (Ahern et al. 1990; Barefoot et al. 1996; Blumenthal et al. 2003; Denollet et al. 1995; Follick et al. 1998; Frasure-Smith et al. 1995a,b; Lesperance et al. 2002; Moser & Dracup 1996; Strik et al. 2003). In initial survivors of stroke, depressive symptoms have been found to predict reduced longevity (House et al. 2001). Similarly, neuroticism is associated with reduced survival among patients with end-stage renal disease (Christensen et al. 2002).

It is important to note that several well-controlled prospective studies have failed to find associations between measures of negative affect and health outcomes (Kaplan & Reynolds 1988, Lane et al. 2001, Shekelle et al. 1991, Zonderman et al. 1989). Further, several of the supportive studies cited above assessed multiple health outcomes, and effects on some specific health outcomes were not demonstrated consistently across studies. Nonetheless, results generally support the conclusion that this broad individual difference is associated with increased risk of objectively assessed, serious health problems.

These results raise the obvious question of whether one or more aspects of this broad personality domain are more important in future health or if the larger multifaceted domain predicts health. Well-established models of the structure of this domain suggest that these more specific characteristics are closely correlated. To the extent that these dimensions are difficult to distinguish, limitations in the discriminant validity of measures of closely correlated characteristics will complicate detection of their specific effects (Suls & Bunde 2005). Most of the studies cited above assess only one of the specific facets or include only a broad measure. Regrettably, in the instances where study protocols include measures of multiple components, published reports are often based on a single scale or one specific dimension at a time. Although some studies addressing this issue appear to identify one or another facet as most important (e.g., Strik et al. 2003), it should be noted that the construct validity of the scales they use is rarely sufficiently well established to support strong conclusions regarding specificity. Further, given the expected

high levels of association among aspects of a higher-order construct, estimates of independent statistical associations may be unstable and sample-specific.

Several mechanisms could contribute to the apparent health consequences of negative affectivity/neuroticism. This trait is associated with negative health behavior (Booth-Kewley & Vickers 1994). Consistent with stress moderation models, chronic anxiety and depressive symptoms are associated with altered autonomic regulation of the cardiovascular system (Berntson et al. 1998, Carney et al. 1995, Watkins et al. 1998), immune suppression (Kiecolt-Glaser et al. 2002), and increased inflammation (Suarez 2004, Suarez et al. 2003). Several forms of chronic negative affect are associated with increased exposure to daily stressors (Bolger & Schilling 1991, Bolger & Zuckerman 1995) and future life difficulties (Daley & Hammen 2002, Daley et al. 1997, Davila et al. 1997, Joiner & Coyne 1999, Neyer & Asendorpf 2001, Potthoff et al. 1995), perhaps indicating the operation of transactional mechanisms.

### Optimism-Pessimism

The tendency to hold optimistic expectations about the future, as opposed to pessimism or even hopelessness, has been found to be associated with important health outcomes, although this literature is less extensive than the topics reviewed above. There are three conceptual models of this trait domain in personality and health research. Most prominent is the generalized expectancy model of Scheier & Carver (1985). Here optimism is defined as the tendency to "expect good experiences in the future" (Carver & Scheier 2001, p. 31), and a brief self-report scale (i.e., Life Orientation Test) is used to measure the construct. The explanatory style approach of Seligman and colleagues defines optimism as the tendency to attribute life difficulties to "temporary, specific, and external (as opposed to permanent, pervasive, and internal) causes" (Gillham et al. 2001, p. 54), and both self-report scales and expert coding of written or spoken material are used as measures. Finally, several self-report scales assess pessimism, based on cognitive models of depression (e.g., Everson et al. 1996).

Measurement issues pose challenges in this domain. These various measures are often only modestly correlated (Norem & Chang 2001), raising concerns about the extent to which they assess the same construct. Furthermore, the measures are often found to have substantial overlap with neuroticism and other personality traits used to study health (Marshall et al. 1992, Scheier et al. 1994, Smith et al. 1989b). As a result, associations of optimism/pessimism with subsequent health might reflect the effects of other traits. Finally, structural analyses indicate that optimism and pessimism are most accurately seen as distinct albeit inversely related dimensions, rather than opposite poles of a single personality trait (Chang 1998, Kubzansky et al. 2004). In studies of health, this raises the question as to whether it is the presence of optimism or the absence of pessimism that alters risk of disease. An analogous issue is illustrated by a recent study on positive and negative affect as predictors of mortality in CHD patients. Although both affective dimensions

predicted survival when considered separately, only negative affectivity was significant when they were considered simultaneously (Brummet et al. 2005).

In prospective studies of objective health, optimism as assessed with the Life Orientation Test is associated with reduced incidence of medical complications following coronary artery bypass surgery (Scheier et al. 1989, 1999) and angioplasty (Helgeson & Fitz 1999), as well as less progression of atherosclerosis (Matthews et al. 2004b). Pessimism has been associated with decreased survival among women with breast cancer, though optimism was not related to survival (Schultz et al. 1996). In prospective studies with long follow-up intervals, content ratings of optimistic explanatory style have been associated with better physicianrated health (Peterson et al. 1988) and longevity (Peterson et al. 1998). Other measures of optimism have been associated with longevity (Maruta et al. 2000), reduced incidence of CHD (Kubzansky et al. 2001), and longer survival following stroke (Lewis et al. 2001). Hopelessness has been associated with the development of hypertension (Everson et al. 2000), increased incidence of death from cardiovascular disease and cancer (Everson et al. 1996), incidence of myocardial infarction (Anda et al. 1993), greater progression of atherosclerosis (Everson et al. 1997a), and reduced longevity (Stern et al. 2001). However, some studies find no association between optimism and subsequent health (Cassileth et al. 1985), and the role of the association of these traits with neuroticism/negative affectivity in the observed effects is generally unknown.

Several mechanisms could contribute to the effects of this social-cognitive individual difference. Greater optimism and/or lower pessimism has been associated with better immune functioning (Segerstrom et al. 1998) and lower ambulatory blood pressure (Raikkonen et al. 1999), consistent with the stress moderation model. Optimism is also associated with more effective participation in health care (Lin & Peterson 1990, Strack et al. 1987), which suggests a possible role for health behavior mechanisms. Optimism is also associated with greater levels of social support (Brissette et al. 2002, Carver et al. 2003), suggesting the possible operation of transactional mechanisms.

#### Other Traits

The FFM trait of conscientiousness has been found to predict longevity among initially healthy persons (Friedman et al. 1993) and survival among patients with end-stage renal disease (Christensen et al. 2002). The mechanism underlying this effect has not been examined extensively, though apparently it is not explained by health behavior (Friedman et al. 1995). Curiosity, perhaps related to the FFM trait of openness to experience, has been found to be associated with longevity (Swan & Carmelli 1996), independent of medical risk factors and health behavior. The concept of sense of coherence (Antonovsky 1987) involves the extent to which individuals find their lives to be comprehensible, manageable, and meaningful. A self-report measure of this trait has been found to predict all-cause mortality in a large, population-based prospective study (Surtees et al. 2003), independent of

medical risk factors, health behaviors, and individual differences in hostility and neuroticism. The concept of a Type D (i.e., distressed) personality has been identified as a predictor of prognosis in CHD patients (Denollet 2005, Denollet et al. 1996). The self-report measure of this construct includes two factors: negative affectivity and social inhibition. These dimensions are closely related to the FFM traits of neuroticism and introversion, respectively (Denollet 2005), placing the Type D construct in the hostile-submissive quadrant of the interpersonal circumplex (Wiggins & Broughton 1991). Given strong associations with well-established personality variables, the Type D construct provides an example of prior critiques of personality and health research as having a tendency to "reinvent constructs under new labels" (Holroyd & Coyne 1987). Further, this model implies that the combination of negative affectivity and social inhibition provides unique prognostic information, yet the incremental effect of the statistical interaction of these traits is not tested. Also, the description of personality risk factors as types rather than dimensions raises a complex issue regarding the existence of discrete classes or groups of individuals within apparently continuous distributions of personality test scores (Trull & Durett 2005).

The tendency to deny or minimize negative emotions (i.e., repressive coping, denial, expressive suppression) has a long history in the study of personality and health. Various measures of this construct have been associated with increased risk of cancer (Dattore et al. 1980), cancer progression (Jensen 1987), and hypertension (Perini et al. 1991). In a related observation, the tendency to conceal their homosexual identity has been found to predict the development of cancer in HIV seronegative gay men (Cole et al. 1996a) and more rapid progression of HIV among seropositive men (Cole et al. 1996b). Mechanisms underlying the health consequences of repressive coping, expressive suppression, or denial could involve stress moderation mechanisms, as these processes have been associated with several aspects of autonomic activity (cf. John & Gross 2004, Smith & Gallo 2001). Transactional mechanisms may also be involved, as repressive coping or expressive suppression is associated with more stressful social interactions and other interpersonal difficulties (Butler et al. 2003, Gross & John 2003, John & Gross 2004).

#### **CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE ISSUES**

This review provides ample evidence that some personality characteristics are prospectively associated with objective health outcomes, including longevity among initially healthy persons, survival among those with serious illness, and the onset of specific diseases (e.g., CHD). Plausible mechanisms underlying these effects have been identified and supported in preliminary research. Most findings are in need of replication, clarification, and extension. A major issue concerns the unique versus overlapping nature of the personality constructs and measures used to predict health. This is obviously an issue within the broad domains, as evident in the difficult psychometric distinctions among anger, hostility, and aggressiveness

or components of negative affectivity and neuroticism. It is also an issue across these domains, as trait anger can also be seen as a facet of the neuroticism trait domain, as can pessimism and hopelessness. Hence, greater use of current structural models of personality and related assessment methods could help to distill a clearer view of a smaller number of broad risk factors or identify more important specific elements within them. This integration could then help to focus future efforts in the difficult task of testing hypothesized mechanisms.

The study of personality and health has been generally separate from research on social-environmental risk factors. The implicit separation of risk factors into characteristics of personality and social circumstances has the potential to impede the emergence of a more integrative view of psychosocial influences on physical health. The health consequences of personality traits may involve their effects on the individual's social environment, and exposure to social environmental risk factors of sufficient duration to influence serious illness may reflect the operation of personality traits. The interpersonal perspective (Pincus & Ansell 2003) can provide useful concepts and methods in this effort. Low socioeconomic status (SES) confers risk of serious health problems, perhaps in part through its effect on psychosocial risk factors reviewed here (Gallo & Matthews 2003). Recent evidence that low SES is also associated with potentially stressful social experiences as assessed through the interpersonal circumplex (Gallo et al. 2006) further illustrates the integrative potential of this perspective.

## The Importance of Context

The studies of personality and health outcomes described above generally adhere to a "main effects" model. Future research should pursue the possibility that health consequences of personality characteristics vary across aspects of the context in which they occur. Age and developmental processes represent a potentially important contextual factor. To date, the life-span development perspective has been underemphasized in personality and health research (Smith & Spiro 2002). Although dimensions of personality are fairly stable across adulthood, there are normative changes in levels of some characteristics (Caspi et al. 2005). Further, associations among personality traits and processes can change over time, as can the individual's profile of personality traits. Any one of these various types of change may be related to health risk. For example, high levels of hostility during early adulthood that decrease in middle age may be associated with lower risk than levels that increase during the same period, even if the level of hostility in these two scenarios is the same when averaged over time. That is, the temporal pattern of personality change may provide independent predictive information.

It is also likely that the association between personality and a given health outcome may change across the lifespan. A trait that predicts poor health outcomes in middle-aged adults might not predict longevity when assessed in later adulthood. The latter population may underrepresent individuals susceptible to the effects of the trait due to prior morbidity and mortality and may overrepresent those who are

more resilient (Williams 2000). Consistent with this view, Boyle et al. (2004) found that hostility was associated with mortality in younger but not older CHD patients. Age-related differences in the association between a personality characteristic and health could also reflect the fact that the trait influences one stage in the natural history of the disease but not others. Even when associations are similar across age and stage of disease, determinants of these psychosocial risk factors might vary with age (Nolen-Hoeksema & Ahrens 2002), as could the mechanisms underlying their association with health.

A developmental view encourages consideration of the origins of risk factors and related mechanisms as well as processes underlying their stability and change. Adverse events during childhood (e.g., physical or emotional abuse, neglect) are associated with increased risk for CHD, and this association is mediated to a greater extent by psychosocial risk factors (e.g., anger, depression) than by traditional CHD risk factors (Dong et al. 2004). Individual differences in physiological stress responses may be shaped by early experiences (Luecken & Lemery 2004), and reciprocal relationships between emerging personality characteristics and aspects of the social environment characterize the development, continuity, and change of personality over the lifespan (Caspi et al. 2005). A more complete science of personality and health should incorporate these and perhaps other developmental considerations.

Gender represents a similarly important aspect of context. Personality and health research includes a well-developed model of gender, personality, and vulnerability. Helgeson (1994) suggests that traditional sex roles render women differentially susceptible to stressors involving communion (e.g., maintenance of connectedness, caregiving, relationship quality) especially when they display high levels of communion traits and the relative absence of agentic characteristics (i.e., unmitigated communion). Conversely, men characterized by high levels of agency striving are susceptible to stressors in this domain (e.g., achievement, status, work) especially when they lack communal traits (i.e., unmitigated agency). Unmitigated agency and unmitigated communion can confer health risks for either men or women, though sex differences in these characteristics make them differentially common in men and women. A growing body of research supports this view of personality, gender, and vulnerability (Helgeson 2003).

Other examples of the importance of gender include sex differences in the type or timing of major health threats. Associations between personality and specific health outcomes may be different for men and women due to sex differences in the prevalence of various diseases or the age at which they occur. For example, associations between hostility and CHD within a given age group might be weaker for women than for men because women tend to develop the condition at a later age. Across the lifespan, there are sex differences in many of the personality traits identified as risk factors, and in childhood temperament precursors to these traits (Williams & Gunn 2006). There may be similar sex differences in the nature or determinants of these risk factors (Nolen-Hoeksema et al. 1999), the magnitude of their association with health, or in underlying mechanisms.

The major sources of morbidity and mortality vary across ethnic and cultural groups. However, research in health psychology and behavioral medicine has only recently begun to consider these issues extensively (Whitfield et al. 2002, Yali & Revenson 2004). The role of ethnicity and culture as moderators of associations between personality factors and health outcomes has been tested infrequently. Furthermore, few culturally relevant personality factors have been identified and examined within current conceptualizations of personality and health. Some of these issues arise from the development of personality theory primarily within European American culture (Triandis 1997). Many current conceptualizations of personality theory are most readily applicable to Western society. For example, much of Western personality theory assumes that social behavior is dependent on stable traits, which can be examined and understood as separate from social experiences and roles within society (Cross & Markus 1999). These assumptions place emphasis on understanding the individual as the primary determinant for behavior and action. However, this perspective is not equally applicable across all cultures. For example, many Asian cultures emphasize social obligations and social roles in relation to others as underlying motivation for individual action. These cultural differences may influence the relative importance of personality factors as opposed to roles, obligations, and other social factors as determinants of health. These cultural considerations might also influence how personality characteristics interact with social circumstances to influence health.

Research with African Americans provides some examples of how ethnicity can be examined as a context for personality and health research. African Americans display higher prevalence of hypertension, a primary risk factor for heart disease and stroke. In addition, African Americans continue to experience discrimination in higher education, housing rentals and sales, automotive sales, and hiring practices (Clark et al. 1999). These experiences may influence the development of personality risk factors or moderate their association with health. Similar considerations have led to the identification of specific personality traits within the African American community that are associated with the development of cardiovascular disease. For example, African Americans tend to score higher than European Americans on measures of hostility and anger (Steffen et al. 2003). These traits and individual differences in anger expression versus inhibition may be involved in African Americans' greater susceptibility to cardiovascular disease. Another culture-specific personality factor that has been identified as a potential influence on the health of African Americans is "John Henryism," in which a "strong behavioral predisposition to cope actively with psychosocial environmental stressors interacts with low socioeconomic status to influence the health of African Americans" (James 1994). This active coping style may contribute to elevated blood pressure for African Americans who diligently attempt to succeed despite limited resources and cultural barriers that impede attainment of goals (Dressler et al. 1998).

The major sources of morbidity and mortality also vary as a function of SES. Several of the personality traits that are reliably associated with health outcomes are also related to SES, a finding that leads to the hypothesis that personality characteristics and related psychosocial risk factors may mediate some of the effects of SES on health (Gallo & Matthews 2003, Gallo et al. 2005). SES might also influence which personality traits are important for subsequent health, the magnitude of these associations, or the underlying mechanisms. Consideration of gender, age, culture and ethnicity, and SES has the potential to produce a more detailed account of associations between personality and health. Such an endeavor poses many challenges, from the equivalence of personality measures across these contexts to the need for context-specific revision of the conceptual models guiding personality and health research.

## **Clinical Applications**

Drawing implications for interventions from the results of epidemiological research on personality and other psychosocial risk factors is a not a straightforward task (Macleod & Davey Smith 2003). Nonetheless, an important goal of this research is the development of risk-reducing interventions for the prevention and management of physical illness. The potential benefit of such applications was illustrated by the Recurrent Coronary Prevention Project (Friedman et al. 1984, Powell & Thoresen 1988), in which group therapy based on a social-cognitive model of the Type A pattern reduced both Type A behavior and the rate of recurrent cardiac events among CHD patients. Related interventions for reducing stress (e.g., Blumenthal et al. 2005) and hostility (e.g., Gidron et al. 1999) continue to prove useful in the management of CHD (Dusseldorp et al. 1999). In contrast, in the multicenter ENRICHD (Enhancing Recovery in Coronary Heart Disease Patients) trial, cognitive therapy for depression produced improvements in the severity of depressive symptoms among CHD patients but had no effect on cardiac events (Berkman et al. 2003). It is possible that further progress in the study of personality and health will facilitate refinements of such interventions in the future. Further specification of which traits confer risk and subgroups where these effects are strongest, as well as explication of the personality processes and mediating mechanisms involved in these associations, are all important aspects of such progress. To achieve it, the trait, social-cognitive, and interpersonal approaches to personality can be brought to bear.

The modification of existing personality risk factors in adulthood in order to prevent or manage serious illness (i.e., secondary and tertiary prevention) is perhaps the most obvious application of this research. However, personality and health research could also inform primary prevention efforts. Personality risk factors for medical illness in adulthood (e.g., chronic negative affect, antagonistic social behavior) converge with the focus of many primary prevention programs in childhood and adolescence intended to promote emotional health, prosocial functioning, and academic success. However, there is another possible benefit of such efforts—the prevention of prevalent and serious medical illnesses of mid and later adulthood (Smith et al. 2004b). Given the continuity of personality characteristics across the

life course (Caspi et al. 2005) and the decades-long etiology of many major diseases, the prevention of risk is an important implication of the study of personality and health.

# The Annual Review of Clinical Psychology is online at http://clinpsy.annualreviews.org

#### LITERATURE CITED

- Ahern DK, Gorkin L, Anderson JL, Tierney C, Hallstrom A, et al. 1990. Biobehavioral variables and mortality or cardiac arrest in the Cardiac Arrhythmia Pilot Study (CAPS). Am. J. Cardiol. 66:59–62
- Albert CM, Chae CU, Rexrode KM, Manson JE, Kawachi I. 2005. Phobic anxiety and risk of coronary heart disease and sudden cardiac death among women. *Circulation* 111:480–87
- Anda R, Wiliamson D, Jones D, Macera C, Eaker E, et al. 1993. Depressed affect, hopelessness, and the risk of ischemic heart disease in a cohort of U.S. adults. *Epidemiology* 4:285–94
- Angel M. 1985. Disease as a reflection of the psyche. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 312:1570–72
- Angerer P, Siebert U, Kothny W, Muhlbauer D, Mudra H, von Schacky C. 2000. Impact of social support, cynical hostility and anger expression on progression of coronary atherosclerosis. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 36:1781–88
- Antonovsky A. 1987. *Unraveling the Mystery of Health*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass
- Bandura A. 1978. The self-system in reciprocal determinism. *Am. Psychol.* 33:1175–84
- Barefoot JC, Dahlstrom WG, Williams RB. 1983. Hostility, CHD incidence, and total mortality: a 25-year follow-up study of 255 physicians. *Psychosom. Med.* 45:59–63
- Barefoot JC, Helms MS, Mark DB, Blumenthal JA, Califf RM, et al. 1996. Depression and long-term mortality risk in patients with coronary artery disease. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 78:613–17
- Barefoot JC, Lipkus IM. 1994. The assessment of anger and hostility. In *Anger, Hostility, and*

- *the Heart*, ed. AW Siegman, TW Smith, pp. 43–66. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum
- Barefoot JC, Schroll M. 1996. Symptoms of depression, acute myocardial infarction, and total mortality in a community sample. Circulation 93:1976–80
- Baron RM, Kenney DA. 1986. The moderatormediator variable distinction in social psychological research: conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 51:1173–82
- Benotsch EG, Christensen AJ, McKelvey L. 1997. Hostility, social support and ambulatory cardiovascular activity. J. Behav. Med. 20:163–76
- Berkman LF, Blumenthal J, Burg M, Carney RM, Catellier D, et al. 2003. Effects of treating depression and low perceived social support on clinical events after myocardial infarction: the Enhancing Recovery in Coronary Heart Disease Patients (ENRICHD) Randomized Trial. *JAMA* 289:3106–16
- Berntson GG, Sarter M, Cacioppo JT. 1998. Anxiety and cardiovascular reactivity: the basal forebrain cholinergic link. *Behav. Brain Res.* 94:225–48
- Blumenthal JA, Lett HS, Babvak MA, White W, Smith PK, et al. 2003. Depression as a risk factor for mortality after coronary artery bypass surgery. *Lancet* 362:604–9
- Blumenthal JA, Sherwood A, Babvak MA, Watkins LL, Waugh R, et al. 2005. Effects of exercise and stress management training on markers of cardiovascular risk in patients with ischemic heart disease: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA* 293:1626–34
- Bolger N, Schilling EA. 1991. Personality and the problems of everyday life: the role of

- neuroticism in exposure and reactivity to daily stressors. *J. Personal.* 59:355–86
- Bolger N, Zuckerman A. 1995. A framework for studying personality in the stress process. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 69:890–902
- Booth-Kewley S, Vickers RR. 1994. Associations between major domains of personality and health behavior. *J. Personal*. 62:281–98
- Boyle SH, Williams RB, Mark DB, Brummett BH, Siegler JC, et al. 2004. Hostility as a predictor of survival in patients with coronary artery disease. *Psychosom. Med.* 66:629–32
- Brissette I, Scheier MF, Carver CS. 2002. The role of optimism in social network development, coping, and psychological adjustment during a life transition. *J. Personal. Soc. Psychol.* 82:102–111
- Brondolo E, Rieppi R, Erickson SA, Bagiella E, Shapiro PA, et al. 2003. Hostility, interpersonal interactions, and ambulatory blood pressure. *Psychosom. Med.* 65:1003–11
- Brummett BH, Boyle SH, Siegler IC, Williams RB, Mark DB, Barefoot JC. 2005. Ratings of positive and depressive emotion as predictors of mortality in coronary patients. *Int. J. Cardiol.* 100:213–16
- Burg MM, Jain D, Soufer R, Kerns RD, Zaret BL. 1993. Role of behavioral and psychological factors in mental stress-induced silent left ventricular dysfunction in coronary artery disease. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 22:440–48
- Buss DM. 1987. Selection, evocation, and manipulation. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 53: 1214–21
- Butler EA, Egloff B, Wilhelm FH, Smith NC, Erickson EA, Gross JJ. 2003. The social consequences of expressive suppression. *Emotion* 3:48–67
- Cantor N. 1990. From thought to behavior: "having" and "doing" in the study of personality and cognition. Am. Psychol. 45:735–50
- Carney RM, Freedland K, Rich M, Jaffe AS. 1995. Depression as a risk factor for cardiac events in established coronary heart disease: a review of possible mechanisms. *Ann. Be-hav. Med.* 17:142–49

- Carson RC. 1969. *Interaction Concepts in Personality*. Chicago: Aldine
- Carver CS, Lehman JM, Michael HA. 2003. Dispositional pessimism predicts illness-related disruption of social and recreational activities among breast cancer patients. *J. Personal. Soc. Psychol.* 84:813–21
- Carver CS, Scheier MF. 2001. Optimism, pessimism, and self-regulation. In *Optimism and Pessimism: Implications for Theory, Research, and Practice*, ed. EC Chang, pp. 31–52. Washington, DC: Am. Psychol. Assoc.
- Caspi A, Bem DJ, Elder GH. 1989. Continuities and consequences of interactional styles across the life course. *J. Personal.* 57:375–406
- Caspi A, Roberts BW, Shiner RL. 2005. Personality development: stability and change. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 56:453–84
- Cassileth BR, Lusk EJ, Miller DS. 1985. Psychosocial correlates of survival in advanced malignant disease. N. Eng. J. Med. 312:1551–55
- Chang EC. 1998. Distinguishing between optimism and pessimism: a second look at the "optimism-neuroticism hypothesis." In *Viewing Psychology as a Whole: The Integrative Science of William N. Dember*, ed. RR Hoffman, MF Sherrik, JS Warm, pp. 415–32. Washington, DC: Am. Psychol. Assoc.
- Chang PP, Ford DE, Meoni LA, Wang NY, Klag MJ. 2002. Anger in young men and subsequent premature cardiovascular disease: the precursors study. Arch. Intern. Med. 162:901–6
- Chaput LA, Adams SH, Simon JA, Blumenthal RS, Vittinghoff E, et al. 2002. Hostility predicts recurrent events among postmenopausal women with coronary heart disease. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 156:1092–99
- Christensen AJ, Ehlers SL, Wiebe JS, Moran PJ, Baichle K, et al. 2002. Patient personality and mortality: a 4-year prospective examination of chronic renal insufficiency. *Health Psychol.* 21:315–20
- Clark LA, Watson D, Mineka S. 1994. Temperament, personality, and the mood and anxiety disorders. J. Abnorm. Psychol. 103:103–16

- Clark R, Anderson NB, Clark VR, Williams DR. 1999. Racism as a stressor for African Americans: a biopsychosocial model. Am. Psychol. 54:805–16
- Cohen F. 1979. Personality, stress, and the development of physical illness. In *Health Psychology: A Handbook*, ed. GC Stone, F Cohen, NE Adler, pp. 77–111. San Francisco: Josey-Bass
- Cohen S, Rodriguez M. 1995. Pathways linking affective disturbances and physical disorders. *Health Psychol*. 14:374–80
- Cole SW, Kemeny ME, Taylor SE, Visscher BR. 1996a. Elevated physical health risk among gay men who conceal their homosexual identity. *Health Psychol*. 15:243–51
- Cole SW, Kemeny ME, Taylor SE, Visscher BR, Fahey J. 1996b. Accelerated course of human immunodeficiency virus infection in gay men who conceal their homosexual identity. *Psychosom. Med.* 58:219–31
- Contrada RJ, Cather C, O'Leary A. 1999. Personality and health: dispositions and processes in disease susceptibility and adaptation to illness. See Pervin & John 1999, pp. 31–56
- Cook W, Medley D. 1954. Proposed hostility and pharisaic virtue scales for the MMPI. *J. Appl. Psychol.* 38:414–18
- Cooper T, Detre T, Weiss SM. 1981. Coronaryprone behavior and coronary heart disease: a critical review. *Circulation* 63:1199–215
- Costa PT Jr, McCrae RR. 1987. Neuroticism, somatic complaints, and disease: Is the bark worse than the bite? *J. Personal.* 55:299–316
- Costa PT Jr, McCrae RR. 1992. Professional manual: Revised NEO Personality Inventory (NEO-PI-R) and the NEO Five-Factor Inventory (NEO-FFI). Odessa, FL: Psychol. Assess. Resourc.
- Costa PT Jr, McCrae RR, Dembroski TM. 1989. Agreeableness versus antagonism: explication of a potential risk factor for CHD. In *In Search of Coronary-Prone Behavior: Beyond Type A*, ed. A Siegman, TM Dembroski, pp. 41–63. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum
- Coyne JC. 1994. Self-reported distress: analog

- or Ersatz depression? *Psychol. Bull.* 11:29–45
- Cronbach LJ, Meehl PE. 1955. Construct validity in psychological tests. *Psychol. Bull.* 52:281–302
- Cross SE, Markus HR. 1999. The cultural constitution of personality. See Pervin & John 1999, pp. 378–96
- Daley SE, Hammen C. 2002. Depressive symptoms and close relationships during the transition to adulthood: perspectives from dysphoric women, their best friends, and their romantic partners. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 70:129–41
- Daley SE, Hammen C, Burge D, Davila J, Paley B, et al. 1997. Predictors of the generation of episodic stress: a longitudinal study of late adolescent women. *J. Abnorm. Psychol.* 106:251–59
- Dattore RJ, Shontz FC, Coyne L. 1980. Premorbid personality differentiation of cancer and noncancer groups: a test of the hypothesis of cancer proneness. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 48:388–94
- Davidson K, Jonas BS, Dixon KE, Markovitz JH. 2000. Do depression symptoms predict early hypertension incidence in young adults in the CARDIA study? Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults. Arch. Intern. Med. 16:1495–500
- Davila J, Bradbury TN, Cohan CL, Tochluk S. 1997. Marital functions and depressive symptoms: evidence for a stress generation model. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 73:849– 61
- Dembroski TM, MacDougall JM, Costa PT Jr, Grandits GA. 1989. Components of hostility as predictors of sudden death and myocardial infarction in the Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial. *Psychosom. Med.* 51:514–22
- Denollet J. 2005. DS14: standard assessment of negative affectivity, social inhibition, and Type D personality. *Psychosom. Med.* 67:89– 97
- Denollet J, Sys SU, Brutsaert DL. 1995. Personality and mortality after myocardial infarction. *Psychosom. Med.* 57:582–91
- Denollet J, Sys SU, Stroobant N, Rombouts H,

- Gillebert TC, Brutsaert DL. 1996. Personality as independent predictor of long-term mortality in patients with coronary heart disease. *Lancet* 347:417–21
- Digman JM. 1990. Personality structure: emergence of the Five-Factor Model. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 41:417–40
- Dong M, Giles WH, Felitti VJ, Dube SR, Williams JE, et al. 2004. Insights into causal pathways for ischemic heart disease: adverse childhood experiences study. *Circulation* 110:1761–66
- Dressler WW, Bindon JR, Neggers YH. 1998. John Henryism, gender, and arterial blood pressure in an African American Community. *Psychosom. Med.* 60:620–24
- Dusseldorp E, van Elderen T, Maes S, Meulman J, Kraaij V. 1999. A meta-analysis of psychoeducational programs for coronary heart disease patients. *Health Psychol.* 18:506–19
- Eaker ED, Pinsky J, Castelli WP. 1992. Myocardial infarction and coronary death among women: psychosocial predictors from a 20-year follow-up of women in the Framingham study. Am. J. Epidemiol. 135:854–64
- Endler NS, Magnusson D. 1976. Toward an interactional psychology of personality. *Psychol. Bull.* 83:956–79
- Eng PM, Fitzmaurice G, Kubzansky LD, Rimm EB, Kawachi I. 2003. Anger expression and risk of stroke and coronary heart disease among male health professionals. *Psycho*som. Med. 65:100–10
- Everson SA, Goldberg DE, Kaplan GA, Cohen RD, Pukkala E, et al. 1996. Hopelessness and risk of mortality and incidence of myocardial infarction and cancer. *Psychosom. Med.* 58:113–21
- Everson SA, Kaplan GA, Goldberg DE, Lakka TA, Sivenius J, Salonen JT. 1999. Anger expression and incident stroke: prospective evidence from the Kuopio ischemic heart disease study. Stroke 30:523–28
- Everson SA, Kaplan GA, Goldberg DE, Salonen JT. 2000. Hypertension incidence is predicted by high levels of hopelessness in Finnish men. *Hypertension* 35:561–67
- Everson SA, Kaplan GA, Goldberg DE, Salo-

- nen R, Salonen JT. 1997a. Hopelessness and 4-year progression of carotid atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 17:1490– 95
- Everson SA, Kauhanen J, Kaplan G, Goldberg D, Julkunen J, et al. 1997b. Hostility and increased risk of mortality and myocardial infarction: the mediating role of behavioral risk factors. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 146:142–52
- Follick MJ, Gorkin L, Capone RJ, Smith TW, Ahern DK, et al. 1988. Psychological distress as a predictor of ventricular arrhythmias in a post-myocardial infarction population. *Am. Heart J.* 116:32–36
- Ford DE, Mead LA, Chang PP, Cooper-Patrick L, Wang N, Klag MJ. 1998. Depression is a risk factor for coronary artery disease in men. *Arch. Intern. Med.* 158:1422–26
- Frasure-Smith N, Lesperance F, Talajic M. 1995a. Depression and 18-month prognosis after myocardial infarction. *Circulation* 91:999–1005
- Frasure-Smith N, Lesperance F, Talajic M. 1995b. The impact of negative emotions on prognosis following myocardial infarction: Is it more than depression? *Health Psychol*. 14:388–98
- Friedman HS, Booth-Kewley S. 1987. The "disease-prone personality": a meta-analytic view of the construct. *Am. Psychol.* 42:539–55
- Friedman HS, Tucker JS, Reise SP. 1995. Personality dimensions and measures potentially relevant to health: a focus on hostility. Ann. Behav. Med. 17:245–51
- Friedman HS, Tucker JS, Schwartz JE, Martin LR, Tomlinson-Keasey C, et al. 1995. Childhood conscientiousness and longevity: health behaviors and cause of death. *J. Personal. Soc. Psychol.* 68:696–703
- Friedman HS, Tucker JS, Tomlinson-Keasey C, Schwartz JE, Wingard DL, Criqui MH. 1993. Does childhood personality predict longevity? J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 65:176–85
- Friedman M, Rosenman RH. 1959. Association of a specific overt behavior pattern with increases in blood cholesterol, blood clotting

- time, incidence of arcus senilis and clinical coronary artery disease. *JAMA* 169:1286–96
- Friedman M, Thoresen CE, Gill JJ, Powell LH, Ulmer D, et al. 1984. Alteration of Type A behavior and reduction in cardiac recurrences in post-myocardial infarction patients. *Am. Heart J.* 108:237–48
- Gallacher J, Tarnell J, Sweetnam Elwood P, Stanfeld S. 1999. Anger and incident heart disease in the Caerphilly Study. *Psychosom. Med.* 61:446–54
- Gallo LC, Bogart LM, Vranceanu AM, Matthews KA. 2005. Socioeconomic status, resources, psychological experiences, and emotional responses: a test of the reserve capacity model. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 88:386–99
- Gallo LC, Matthews KA. 2003. Understanding the association between socioeconomic status and physical health: Do negative emotions play a role? *Psychol. Bull.* 129:10–51
- Gallo LC, Smith TW. 1998. Construct validation of health-relevant personality traits: interpersonal circumplex and five-factor model analyses of the Aggression Questionnaire. Int. J. Behav. Med. 5:129–47
- Gallo LC, Smith TW. 1999. Patterns of hostility and social support: conceptualizing psychosocial risk as a characteristic of the person and the environment. *J. Res. Personal*. 33:281–10
- Gallo LC, Smith TW, Cox CM. 2006. Socioeconomic status, psychosocial processes, and perceived health: an interpersonal perspective. Ann. Behav. Med. In press
- Gidron Y, Davidson K, Bata I. 1999. The shortterm effects of a hostility-reduction intervention on male coronary heart disease patients. *Health Psychol*. 18:416–20
- Gillham JE, Shatte AJ, Reivich KJ, Seligman MEP. 2001. Optimism, pessimism, and explanatory style. In *Optimism and Pessimism: Implications for Theory, Research, and Practice*, ed. EC Chang, pp. 53–76. Washington, DC: Am. Psychol. Assoc.
- Golden SH, Williams JE, Ford DE, Yeh HC, Paton Sanford C, et al. 2004. Depressive symptoms and the risk of type 2 diabetes: the

- Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities study. *Diabetes Care* 27:429–35
- Goodman M, Quigley J, Moran G, Meilman H, Sherman M. 1996. Hostility predicts resentosis after percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty. *Mayo Clin. Proc.* 71:729–34
- Gottdiener JS, Kop WJ, Hauser E, McCeney MK, Herrington D, Krantz DS. 2003. Effects of mental stress on flow-mediated brachial arterial dilation and influence of behavioral factors and hypercholesterolemia in subjects without cardiovascular disease. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 15:687–91
- Graziano WG, Jensen-Campbell LA, Hair EC. 1996. Perceiving interpersonal conflict and reacting to it: the case for agreeableness. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 70:820–35
- Gross JJ, John OP. 2003. Individual differences in two emotion regulation processes: implications for affect, relationships, and wellbeing. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 85:348–62
- Gump BB, Matthews KA, Eberly LE, Change YF, MRFIT Res. Group. 2005. Depressive symptoms and mortality in men: results from the Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial. *Stroke* 36:98–102
- Gurtman MB, Pincus AL. 2003. The circumplex model: methods and research applications. In *Handbook of Psychology: Research Methods in Psychology*, Vol. 2, ed. JA Schinka, WF Velicer, pp. 407–28. New York: Wiley
- Guyll M, Contrada RJ. 1998. Trait hostility and ambulatory cardiovascular activity: responses to social interaction. *Health Psychol*. 17:30–39
- Haas DC, Davidson KW, Schwartz DJ, Rieckmann N, Roman MJ, et al. 2005. Depressive symptoms are independently predictive of carotid atherosclerosis. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 95:547–50
- Harris KF, Matthews KA, Sutton-Tyrrell K, Kuller LH. 2003. Associations between psychological traits and endothelial function in post-menopausal women. *Psychosom. Med.* 65:402–9
- Hecker MHL, Chesney MA, Black GW, Frautchi N. 1988. Coronary-prone behaviors

- in the Western Collaborative Group Study. *Psychosom. Med.* 50:153–64
- Helgeson VS. 1994. Relation of agency and communion to well-being: evidence and potential explanations. *Psychol. Bull.* 116:412– 18
- Helgeson VS. 2003. Gender-related traits and health. In Social Psychological Foundations of Health and Illness, ed. J Suls, KA Wallston, pp. 367–44. Oxford, UK: Blackwell
- Helgeson VS, Fritz HL. 1999. Cognitive adaptation as a predictor of new coronary events after percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty. *Psychosom. Med.* 61:488–95
- Helmers KF, Krantz DS, Howell R, Klein J, Bairey N, Rozanski A. 1993. Hostility and myocardial ischemia in coronary artery disease patients: evaluation by gender and ischemic index. *Psychosom. Med.* 50:29–36
- Hermann C, Brano-Driehorst S, Kaminsky B, Leibring E, Staats H, Ruger U. 1998. Diagnostic groups and depressed mood as predictors of 22-month mortality in medical inpatients. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 46:345–50
- Hirschfeld R, Klerman G, Lavori P, Keller M, Griffith P, Corywell W. 1989. Premorbid personality assessments of first onset of major depression. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 46:345–50
- Holroyd KA, Coyne J. 1987. Personality and health in the 1980s: psychosomatic medicine revisited? *J. Personal.* 55:360–75
- House A, Knapp P, Bamford J, Vail A. 2001. Mortality at 12 and 24 months after stroke may be associated with depressive symptoms at 1 month. *Stroke* 32:696–701
- Houston BK. 1989. Personality dimensions in reactivity and cardiovascular disease. In Handbook of Research Methods in Cardiovascular Behavioral Medicine, ed. N Schneiderman, SM Weiss, PG Kaufmann, pp. 495– 510. New York: Plenum
- Houston BK, Babyak MA, Chesney M, Black G, Ragland D. 1997. Social dominance and 22-year all-cause mortality in men. *Psycho-som. Med.* 59:5–12
- Houston BK, Chesney MA, Black GW, Cates DS, Hecker ML. 1992. Behavioral clusters

- and coronary heart disease risk. *Psychosom*. *Med.* 54:447–61
- Idler El, Benyamini Y. 1997. Self-rated health and mortality. A review of twenty-seven community studies. J. Health Soc. Behav. 38:21–37
- Iribarren C, Sidney S, Bild DE, Liu K, Markovitz JH, et al. 2000. Association of hostility with coronary artery calcification in young adults: the CARDIA study. *JAMA* 283:2546–51
- James SA. 1994. John Henryism and the health of African-Americans. Cult. Med. Psychiatry 18:163–82
- Jang KL, Hu S, Livelsy WJ, Angleitner A, Rietmann R, et al. 2001. Covariance structure of neuroticism and agreeableness: a twin and molecular genetic analysis of the role of the serotonin transporter gene. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 81:295–304
- Jensen MR. 1987. Psychobiological factors predicting the course of breast cancer. J. Personal. 55:317–42
- John OP, Gross JJ. 2004. Healthy and unhealthy emotion regulation: personality processes, individual differences, and life span development. J. Personal. 72:1301–33
- Joiner T, Coyne JC. 1999. *The Interactional Nature of Depression: Advances in Interpersonal Approaches*. Washington, DC: Am. Psychol. Assoc.
- Jones BS, Franks P, Ingram DD. 1997. Are symptoms of anxiety and depression risk factors for hypertension? *Arch. Fam. Med.* 6:43– 49
- Kaplan GA, Reynolds P. 1988. Depression and cancer mortality and morbidity: prospective evidence from the Alameda County study. J. Behav. Med. 11:1–13
- Kaplan JR, Botchin MB, Manuck SB. 1994. Animal models of aggression and cardiovascular disease. In *Anger, Hostility, and the Heart*, ed. AW Siegman, TW Smith, pp. 127– 48. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum
- Kaplan JR, Manuck SB. 1998. Monkeys, aggression, and the pathobiology of atherosclerosis. *Aggress. Behav.* 24:323–34
- Kaufmann MW, Fitzgibbons JP, Sussman EJ,

- Reed JF 3rd, Einfalt JM, et al. 1999. Relation between myocardial infarction, depression, hostility, and death. *Am. Heart J.* 138:549–54
- Kawachi I, Sparrow D, Spiro A, Vokonas P, Weiss ST. 1996. A prospective study of anger and coronary heart disease. The Normative Aging Study. *Circulation* 94:2090–95
- Kawachi I, Sparrow D, Vokonas PS, Weiss ST. 1994. Symptoms of anxiety and risk of coronary heart disease: The Normative Aging Study. Circulation 90:2225–29
- Kiecolt-Glaser JK, McGuire L, Robles TF, Glaser R. 2002. Emotions, morbidity, and mortality: new perspectives from psychoneuroimmunology. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 53:83– 107
- Kiesler DJ. 1983. The 1982 interpersonal circle: a taxonomy for complementarity in human transactions. *Psychol. Rev.* 90:185–214
- Kiesler DJ. 1996. Contemporary Interpersonal Theory and Research: Personality, Psychopathology, and Psychotherapy. New York: Wiley
- Kobasa SC. 1979. Stressful life events, personality and health: an inquiry into hardiness. *J. Personal. Soc. Psychol.* 37:1–11
- Kubzansky LD, Kawachi I, Spiro A, Weiss ST, Vokonas PS, Sparrow D. 1997. Is worrying bad for your heart? A prospective study of worry and coronary heart disease in the Normative Aging Study. Circulation 95:818– 24
- Kubzansky LD, Kubzansky PE, Maselko J. 2004. Optimism and pessimism in the context of health: bipolar opposites or separate constructs? *Personal. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 30:943–56
- Kubzansky LD, Sparrow D, Vokonas P, Kawachi I. 2001. Is the glass half empty or half full? A prospective study of optimism and coronary heart disease in the normative aging study. *Psychosom. Med.* 63:910–16
- Lane D, Carroll D, Ring C, Beevers DG, Lip GYH. 2001. Mortality and quality of life 12 months after myocardial infarction: effects of depression and anxiety. *Psychosom. Med.* 63:221–30

- Lesperance F, Frasure-Smith N, Talajicm M, Bourassa MG. 2002. Five-year risk of cardiac mortality in relation to initial severity and one-year changes in depression symptoms after myocardial infarction. *Circulation* 105:1049–53
- Lewis SC, Dennis MS, O'Rourke SJ, Sharpe M. 2001. Negative attitudes among short-term stroke survivors predict worse long-term survival. Stroke 32:1640–45
- Libby P. 2003. Vascular biology of atherosclerosis: overview and state of the art. Am. J. Cardiol. 91(3A):3–6
- Lin EH, Peterson C. 1990. Pessimistic explanatory style and response to illness. *Behav. Res. Ther.* 28:343–48
- Luecken LJ, Lemery KS. 2004. Early caregiving and physiological stress responses. Clin. Psychol. Rev. 24:171–91
- Macleod J, Davey Smith G. 2003. Psychosocial factors and public health: a suitable case for treatment? J. Epidemiol. Community Health 57:565–70
- Manuck SB, Flory JD, Ferrell RE, Dent KM, Mann JJ, Muldoon MF. 1999. Aggression and anger-related traits associated with a polymorphism of the tryptophan hydrocylase gene. *Biol. Psychiatry* 45:603–14
- Markovitz JH, Matthews KA, Wing RR, Kuller LH, Meilahn EN. 1991. Psychological, biological, and health behavior predictors of blood pressure change in middle-aged women. *J. Hypertens.* 9:399–406
- Marshall GN, Wortman CB, Kusulas JW, Hervig LK, Vickers RR Jr. 1992. Distinguishing optimism from pessimism: Relations to fundamental dimensions of mood and personality. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 62:1067–74
- Marshall GN, Wortman CB, Vickers RR, Kusulas JW, Hervig LK. 1994. The five-factor model of personality as a framework for personality-health research. *J. Personal. Soc. Psychol.* 67:278–86
- Martin LR, Friedman HS, Tucker JS, Schwartz JE, Criqui MH, et al. 1995. An archival prospective study of mental health and longevity. *Health Psychol*. 14:381–87

- Martin R, Watson D, Wan CK. 2000. A three-factor model of trait anger: dimensions of affect, behavior, and cognition. *J. Personal*. 68:869–97
- Maruta T, Colligan RC, Malinchoc M, Offord KP. 2000. Optimists vs. pessimists: survival rate among medical patients over a 30-year period. Mayo Clin. Proc. 75:140–43
- Matthews KA. 1988. CHD and Type A behaviors: update on an alternative to the Booth-Kewley and Friedman quantitative review. *Psychol. Bull.* 104:373–80
- Matthews KA, Glass DC, Rosenman RH, Bortner RW. 1977. Competitive drive, Pattern A, and coronary disease: a further analysis of some data from the Western Collaborative Group Study. *J. Chron. Dis.* 30:489–98
- Matthews KA, Gump BB, Harris KF, Haney TL, Barefoot JC. 2004a. Hostile behaviors predict cardiovascular mortality among men enrolled in the Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial. Circulation 109:66–70
- Matthews KA, Owens JF, Kuller LH, Sutton-Tyrrell K, Jansen-McWilliams L. 1998. Are hostility and anxiety associated with carotid atherosclerosis in healthy post-menopausal women? *Psychosom. Med.* 60:633–38
- Matthews KA, Raikkonen K, Sutton-Tyrrell K, Kuller LH. 2004b. Optimistic attitudes protect against progression of carotid atherosclerosis in healthy middle-aged women. *Psychosom. Med.* 66:640–44
- May M, McCarron P, Stansfeld S, Ben-Shlomo Y, Gallacher J, et al. 2002. Does psychological distress predict the risk of ischemic stroke and transient ischemic attack? The Caerphilly Study. *Stroke* 33:7–12
- McCrae RR, Costa PT Jr. 1996. Toward a new generation of personality theories: theoretical contexts for the five-factor model. In *The Five-Factor Model of Personality*, ed. JS Wiggins, pp. 51–87. New York: Guilford
- McCrae RR, John OP. 1992. An introduction to the Five-Factor Model and its applications. *J. Res. Personal*. 60:175–216
- McMahon CE. 1976. The role of imagination in the disease process: pre-Cartesian medical history. *Psychol. Med.* 6:1179–84

- Meehl PE. 1970. Nuisance variables and the ex post facto design. In *Minnesota Studies in the Philosophy of Science: Vol. IV. Analyses of Theories and Methods of Physics and Psychology*, ed. M Radner, S Winokur, pp. 373–402. Minneapolis: Univ. Minn. Press
- Mendes De Leon CF, Kop WJ, de Swart HB, Bar FW, Appels AP. 1996. Psychosocial characteristics and recurrent events after percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty. Am. J. Cardiol. 77:252–55
- Miller GE, Freedland KE, Carney RM, Stetler CA, Banks WA. 2003. Cynical hostility, depressive symptoms, and the expression of inflammatory risk markers for coronary heart disease. *J. Behav. Med.* 26:501–15
- Miller TQ, Smith TW, Turner CW, Guijarro ML, Hallet AJ. 1996. A meta-analytic review of research on hostility and physical health. *Psychol. Bull.* 119:322–48
- Miller TQ, Turner CW, Tindale RS, Posavac EJ, Dugoni BL. 1991. Reasons for the trend toward null findings in research on Type A behavior. *Psychol. Bull.* 110:469–85
- Mischel W. 2004. Toward an integrative science of the person. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 55:1–22
- Mischel W, Shoda Y. 1998. Reconciling processing dynamics and personality dispositions. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 49:229–58
- Moffitt TE, Caspi A, Rutter M. 2005. Strategy for investigating interactions between measured genes and measured environments. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 62:473–81
- Moser DK, Dracup K. 1996. Is anxiety early after myocardial infarction associated with subsequent ischemic and arrhythmic events? *Psychosom. Med.* 58:395–401
- Myint PK, Luben RN, Surtees PG, Wainwright NW, Welch AA, et al. 2005. Relation between self-reported physical functional health and chronic disease mortality in men and women in the European prospective investigation into cancer (EPIC-Norfolk): a prospective population study. *Ann. Epidemiol.* 10.1016/j.annepidem.2005.04.005 (Epub-ahead of print)
- Neyer FJ, Asendorpf JB. 2001. Personality-relationship transaction in young adulthood.

- J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 81:1190–204
- Nolen-Hoeksema S, Ahrens C. 2002. Age differences and similarities in the correlates of depressive symptoms. *Psychol. Aging* 17: 116–24
- Nolen-Hoeksema S, Larson J, Grayson C. 1999. Explaining the gender difference in depressive symptoms. *J. Personal. Soc. Psychol.* 77:1061–72
- Norem JK, Chang EC. 2001. A very full glass: adding complexity to our applications of optimism and pessimism research. In *Optimism and Pessimism: Implications for Theory, Research and Practice*, ed. EC Chang, pp. 347–67. Washington, DC: Am. Psychol. Assoc.
- Olson MB, Krantz DS, Kelsey SF, Pepine CJ, Sopko G, et al. 2005. Hostility scores are associated with increased risk of cardiovascular events in women undergoing coronary angiography: a report from the NHLBI-Sponsored WISE Study. *Psychosom. Med.* 67:546–52
- O'Malley PG, Jones DL, Feuerstein IM, Taylor AJ. 2000. Lack of correlation between psychological factors and subclinical coronary artery disease. *N. Eng. J. Med.* 343:1298–304
- Ozer DJ. 1999. Four principles for personality assessment. See Pervin & John 1999, pp. 671–86
- Penninx BW, Beekman AT, Honig A, Deeg DJ, Schoevers RS, et al. 2001. Depression and cardiac mortality: results from a community-based study. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 58:221–27
- Perini C, Muller FB, Buhler FR. 1991. Suppressed aggression accelerates early development of essential hypertension. *J. Hypertens*. 9:399–406
- Pervin LA, John OP, eds. 1999. Handbook of Personality: Theory and Research. New York: Guilford. 2nd ed.
- Peterson C, Seligman M, Vaillant GE. 1988.
  Pessimistic explanatory style is a risk factor for physical illness: a thirty-five-year longitudinal study. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 55:23–27

- Peterson C, Seligman M, Yurko K, Martin LR, Friedman H. 1998. Catastrophizing and untimely death. *Psychol. Sci.* 9:127–30
- Phillips AN, Davey Smith G. 1991. How independent are "independent" effects? Relative risk estimation when correlated exposures are measured imprecisely. *J. Clin. Epidemiol.* 44:1223–31
- Pincus AL, Ansell EB. 2003. Interpersonal theory of personality. In *Handbook of Psychology: Personality and Social Psychology, Vol.* 5, ed. T Millon, MJ Lerner, pp. 209–29. New York: Wiley
- Pope MK, Smith TW. 1991. Cortisol excretion in high and low cynically hostile men. *Psychosom. Med.* 53:386–92
- Potthoff JG, Holahan CJ, Joiner TE. 1995. Reassurance seeking, stress generation, and depressive symptoms: an integrative model. *J. Personal. Soc. Psychol.* 68:664–70
- Powell LH, Thoresen CE. 1988. Effects of Type A behavioral counseling and severity of prior acute myocardial infarction on survival. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 62:1159–63
- Ragland DR, Brand RJ. 1988. Type A behavior and mortality from coronary heart disease. N. Engl. J. Med. 318:65–69
- Raikkonen K, Matthews KA, Flory JD, Owens JF, Gump B. 1999. Effects of optimism, pessimism, and trait anxiety on ambulatory blood pressure and mood during everyday life. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 76:104–13
- Raikkonen K, Matthews KA, Sutton-Tyrrell K, Kuller LH. 2004. Trait anger and the metabolic syndrome predict progression of carotid atherosclerosis in healthy middleaged women. *Psychosom. Med.* 66:903–8
- Roberts BW, Caspi A, Moffitt TE. 2003. Work experiences and personality development in young adulthood. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 84:582–93
- Robins RW, Caspi A, Moffitt TE. 2002. It's not just who you're with, it's who you are: personality and relationship experiences across multiple relationships. *J. Personal.* 70:925–64
- Rosenberg EL, Ekman P, Jian W, Babyak M, Coleman RE, et al. 2001. Linkages between

- facial expressions of anger and transient myocardial ischemia in men with coronary artery disease. *Emotion* 1:107–15
- Rowan PJ, Haas D, Campbell JA, Maclean DR, Davidson KW. 2005. Depressive symptoms have an independent gradient risk for coronary heart disease incidence in a random, population-based sample. Ann. Epidemiol. 15:516–20
- Rutledge T, Hogan BE. 2002. A quantitative review of prospective evidence linking psychological factors with hypertension development. *Psychosom. Med.* 64:758–66
- Rutter M, Silberg J. 2002. Gene-environment interplay in relation to emotional and behavioral disturbance. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 53:463–90
- Ryff CD, Singer B. 1998. The contours of positive human health. *Psychol. Inq.* 9:1–28
- Scheier MF, Carver CS. 1985. Optimism, coping, and health: assessment and implications of generalized outcome expectancies. *Health Psychol.* 4:219–47
- Scheier MF, Carver CS, Bridges MW. 1994. Distinguishing optimism from neuroticism (and trait anxiety, self-mastery, and self-esteem): a reevaluation of the Life Orientation Test. *J. Personal. Soc. Psychol.* 67:1063–78
- Scheier MF, Matthews KA, Owens J, Magovern G, Lefebure R, et al. 1989. Dispositional optimism and recovery from coronary artery bypass surgery: the beneficial effects of physical and psychological well-being. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 57:1024–40
- Scheier MF, Matthews KA, Owens JF, Schulz R, Bridges MW, et al. 1999. Optimism and rehospitalization after coronary artery bypass graft surgery. *Arch. Intern. Med.* 159:829–35
- Schneiderman N, Ironson G, Siegel SD. 2005. Stress and health: psychological, behavioral, and biological determinants. Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol. 1:607–28
- Schultz R, Bookwala J, Knapp JE, Scheier M, Williamson GM. 1996. Pessimism, age, and cancer mortality. *Psychol. Aging* 11:304– 9

- Segerstrom SC, Taylor SE, Kemeny ME, Fahey JL. 1998. Optimism is associated with mood, coping, and immune change in response to stress. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 74:1646– 55
- Shekelle RB, Gale M, Norusis M. 1985a. Type A score (Jenkins Activity Survey) and risk of recurrent coronary heart disease in the Aspirin Myocardial Infarction Study. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 56:221–25
- Shekelle RB, Gale M, Ostfeld AM, Paul O. 1983. Hostility, risk of coronary heart disease, and mortality, *Psychosom. Med.* 45:109–14
- Shekelle RB, Hulley S, Neaton J, Billings J, Borhani N, et al. 1985b. MRFIT Research Group: the MRFIT behavior pattern study II. Type A behavior pattern and incidence of coronary heart disease. *Am. J. Epidemiol*. 122:559–70
- Shekelle RB, Vernon SW, Ostfeld AM. 1991.Personality and coronary heart disease. Psychosom. Med. 53:176–84
- Siegler IC, Costa PT, Brummett BH, Helms MJ, Barefoot JC, et al. 2003. Patterns of change in hostility from college to midlife in the UNC Alumni Heart Study predict high-risk status. *Psychosom. Med.* 65:738–45
- Siegman AW, Kubzansky LD, Kawachi I, Boyle S, Vokonas PS, Sparrow D. 2000. A prospective study of dominance and coronary heart disease in the normative aging study. Am. J. Cardiol. 86:145–49
- Simonsick EM, Wallace RB, Blaser DG, Gerkman LF. 1995. Depressive symptomatology and hypertension-associated morbidity and mortality in older adults. *Psychosom. Med.* 57:427–35
- Smith TW, Allred KD, Morrison C, Carlson S. 1989a. Cardiovascular reactivity and interpersonal influence: active coping in a social context. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 56:209– 18
- Smith TW, Anderson NB. 1986. Models of personality and disease: an interactional approach to Type A behavior and cardiovascular risk. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 50:1166– 73

- Smith TW, Gallo LC. 1999. Hostility and cardiovascular reactivity during marital interaction. *Psychosom. Med.* 61:436–45
- Smith TW, Gallo LC. 2001. Personality traits as risk factors for physical illness. In *Hand-book of Health Psychology*, ed. A Baum, T Revenson, J Singer, pp. 139–72. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum
- Smith TW, Gallo LC, Ruiz JM. 2003. Toward a social psychophysiology of cardiovascular reactivity: interpersonal concepts and methods in the study of stress and coronary disease. In *Social Psychological Foundations of Health and Illness*, ed. J Suls, K Wallston, pp. 335–66. Oxford, UK: Blackwell
- Smith TW, Glazer K, Ruiz JM, Gallo LC. 2004a. Hostility, anger, aggressiveness and coronary heart disease: an interpersonal perspective on personality, emotion and health. *J. Personal.* 72:1217–70
- Smith TW, McGongile M, Turner CW, Ford MH, Slattery ML. 1991. Cynical hostility in adult male twins. *Psychosom. Med.* 53:684– 92
- Smith TW, Orleans CT, Jenkins CD. 2004b. Prevention and health promotion: decades of progress, new challenges, and an emerging agenda. *Health Psychol*. 23:126–31
- Smith TW, Pope MK, Rhodewalt F, Poulton JL. 1989b. Optimism, neuroticism, coping, and symptom reports: an alternative interpretation of the Life Orientation Test. *J. Personal. Soc. Psychol.* 56:640–48
- Smith TW, Ruiz JM. 2004. Personality theory and research in the study of health and behavior. In *Handbook of Clinical Health Psychology: Vol. 1. Models and Perspectives in Health Psychology*, ed. T Boll (ser. ed.), R Frank, J Wallander, A Baum (vol. eds.), pp. 143–99. Washington, DC: Am. Psychol. Assoc.
- Smith TW, Ruiz JM, Uchino BN. 2000. Vigilance, active coping, and cardiovascular reactivity during social interaction in young men. *Health Psychol.* 19:382–92
- Smith TW, Spiro A. 2002. Personality, health, and aging: prolegomenon for the next generation. J. Res. Personal. 36:363–94

- Smith TW, Williams PG. 1992. Personality and health: advantages and limitations of the five factor model. *J. Personal*. 60:395– 423
- Somervell PD, Kaplan BH, Heiss G, Tyroler HA, Kleinbaum DG, Obrist PA. 1989. Psychologic distress as a predictor of mortality. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 130:1013–23
- Spiro A, Aldwin CM, Ward KD, Mroczek DK. 1995. Personality and the incidence of hypertension among older men: longitudinal findings from the normative aging study. *Health Psychol.* 14:563–69
- Stamatakis KA, Lynch J, Everson SA, Raghunathan T, Salonen JT, Kaplan GA. 2004. Self-esteem and mortality: prospective evidence from a population-based study. *Ann. Epidemiol.* 14:58–65
- Steffen PR, McNeilly M, Anderson N, Sherwood A. 2003. Effects of perceived racism and anger inhibition on ambulatory blood pressure in African Americans. *Psychosom. Med.* 65:746–50
- Stern SL, Dhanda R, Hazuda HP. 2001. Hopelessness predicts mortality in older Mexican and European Americans. *Psychosom. Med.* 63:344–51
- Stone GC, Cohen F, Adler NE. 1979. *Health Psychology*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass
- Stone SV, Costa PT Jr. 1990. Disease-prone personality or distress-prone personality? The role of neuroticism in coronary heart disease. In *Personality and Disease*, ed. HS Friedman, pp. 178–200. New York: Wiley
- Strack S, Carver C, Blaney P. 1987. Predicting successful completion of an aftercare program following treatment for alcoholism: the role of dispositional optimism. *J. Personal.* Soc. Psychol. 53:579–84
- Strik JJ, Denollet J, Lausberg R, Honig A. 2003. Comparing symptoms of depression and anxiety as predictors of cardiac events and increased health care consumption after myocardial infarction. *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.* 42:1801–7
- Suarez EC. 2003. Joint effect of hostility and severity of depressive symptoms on

- plasma interleukin-6 concentration. *Psychosom. Med.* 65:523–27
- Suarez EC. 2004. C-reactive protein is associated with psychological risk factors in cardiovascular disease in apparently healthy adults. *Psychosom. Med.* 66:684–91
- Suarez EC, Krishnan RR, Lewis JG. 2003. The relation of severity of depressive symptoms to monocyte-associated proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines in apparently healthy men. *Psychosom. Med.* 65:362–68
- Suarez EC, Kuhn CM, Schanberg SM, Williams RB, Zimmermann EA. 1998. Neuroendocrine, cardiovascular, and emotional responses of hostile men: the role of interpersonal challenge. *Psychosom. Med.* 60:78–88
- Suarez EC, Lewis JG, Kuhn C. 2002. The relation of aggression, hostility, and anger to lipopolysaccharide-stimulated tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-α by blood monocytes from normal men. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 16:675–84
- Sullivan HS. 1953. *The Interpersonal Theory of Psychiatry*. New York: Norton
- Suls J, Bunde J. 2005. Anger, anxiety, and depression as risk factors for cardiovascular disease: the problems and implications of overlapping affective dispositions. *Psychol. Bull.* 131:260–300
- Suls J, Rittenhouse JD. 1987. Personality and health: an introduction. J. Personal. 55:155– 67
- Suls J, Sanders GS. 1989. Why do some behavioral styles place people at coronary risk? In *In Search of Coronary-Prone Behavior*, ed. AW Siegman, TM Dembroski, pp. 1–20. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum
- Surtees PG, Wainwright NW, Luben R, Day NE, Khaw K-T. 2005. Prospective cohort study of hostility and the risk of cardiovascular disease mortality. *Int. J. Cardiol*. 100:155–61
- Surtees PG, Wainwright N, Luben R, Khaw K-T, Day NE. 2003. Sense of coherence and mortality in men and women in the EPIC-Norfolk United Kingdom prospective cohort study. Am. J. Epidemiol. 158:1202–9

- Surwit RS, Williams RB, Shapiro D. 1982. Behavioral Approaches to Cardiovascular Disease. New York: Academic
- Swan GE, Carmelli D. 1996. Curiosity and mortality in aging adults: a five-year follow-up of the Western Collaborative Group Study. *Psychol. Aging* 11:449–53
- Sykes DH, Arveiler D, Salters CP, Ferrieres J, McCrum E, et al. 2002. Psychosocial risk factors for heart disease in France and Northern Ireland: the Prospective Epidemiological Study of Myocardial Infarction (PRIME). *Int. J. Epidemiol.* 31:1227–34
- Todaro JF, Shen BJ, Niaura R, Spiro A 3rd, Ward KD. 2003. Effect of negative emotions on frequency of coronary heart disease (The Normative Aging Study). Am. J. Cardiol. 92:901–6
- Trapnell PD, Wiggins JS. 1990. Extension of the Interpersonal Adjective Scales to include the big five dimensions of personality. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 59:781–90
- Triandis HC. 1997. Cross-cultural perspectives on personality. See Pervin & John 1999, pp. 439–65
- Trobst K. 2000. An interpersonal conceptualization and quantification of social support transactions. *Personal. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 26:971–86
- Trull TJ, Durett CA. 2005. Categorical and dimensional models of personality disorder. Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol. 1:355–80
- Wagner CC, Kiesler DJ, Schmidt JA. 1995. Assessing the interpersonal transaction cycle: convergence of action and reaction interpersonal circumplex measures. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 69:938–49
- Watkins LL, Grossman P, Krishnan R, Sherwood A. 1998. Anxiety and vagal control of heart rate. *Psychosom. Med.* 60:498–502
- Watson D, Clark LA, 1984. Negative affectivity: the disposition to experience aversive emotional states. *Psychol. Bull.* 96:465–90
- Watson D, Clark LA, Harkness AR. 1994. Structures of personality and their relevance to psychopathology. J. Abnorm. Psychol. 103:18–31

- Watson D, Pennebaker JW. 1989. Health complaints, stress, and distress: exploring the central role of negative affectivity. *Psychol. Rev.* 96:234–54
- Weiss SM, Herd JA, Fox BH. 1981. Perspectives on Behavioral Medicine. New York: Academic
- Welin C, Lappas G, Wilhelmsen L. 2000. Independent importance of psychosocial factors for prognosis after myocardial infarction. *J. Intern. Med.* 247:629–39
- West SG, Finch JF. 1997. Personality measurement: reliability and validity issues. See Pervin & John 1999, pp. 143–64
- Whiteman MC, Deary IJ, Lee AJ, Fowkes FGR. 1997. Submissiveness and protection from coronary heart disease in the general population: Edinburgh Artery Study. *Lancet* 350:541–45
- Whitfield KE, Weidner G, Clark R, Anderson NB. 2002. Sociodemographic diversity and behavioral medicine. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 70:463–81
- Wiebe DJ, Smith TW. 1997. Personality and health: progress and problems in psychosomatics. In *Handbook of Personality Psychology*, ed. R Hogan, J Johnson, S Briggs, pp. 891–918. San Diego: Academic
- Wiggins JS. 1979. A psychological taxonomy of trait-descriptive terms: the interpersonal domain. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 37:395– 412
- Wiggins JS, Broughton R. 1991. A geometric taxonomy of personality scales. *Eur. J. Personal.* 5:343–65
- Wiggins JS, Trapnell PD. 1996. A dyadicinteractional perspective on the five-factor model. In *The Five-Factor Model of Personality*, ed. JS Wiggins, pp. 88–162. New York: Guilford
- Williams JE, Nieto FJ, Sanford CP, Couper DJ, Tyroler HA. 2002. The association between trait anger and incident stroke risk: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study. *Stroke* 33:13–20
- Williams JE, Paton CC, Siegler IC, Eigenbrodt ML, Nieto FJ, Tyroler HA. 2000. Anger proneness predicts coronary heart

- disease risk: prospective analysis from the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) study. *Circulation* 101:2034– 39
- Williams PG. 2004. The psychopathology of self-assessed health: a cognitive approach to health anxiety and hypochondriasis. Cogn. Ther. Res. 28:629–44
- Williams PG, Gunn HE. 2006. Gender, personality, and psychopathology. In *Comprehensive Handbook of Personality and Psychopathology, Vol. 1: Personality and Everyday Functioning*, ed. JC Thomas, DL Sigel, pp. 432–42. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley
- Williams RB Jr. 1994. Basic biological mechanisms. In *Anger, Hostility, and the Heart*, ed. AW Siegman, TW Smith, pp. 117–25. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum
- Williams RB Jr. 2000. Psychological factors, health, and disease: the impact of aging and the life cycle. In *Behavior, Health, and Aging*, ed. SB Manuck, R Jennings, BS Rabin, A Baum, pp. 135–51. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum
- Williams RB Jr, Barefoot JC, Shekelle RB. 1985. The health consequences of hostility. In Anger and Hostility in Cardiovascular and Behavioral Disorders, ed. MA Chesney, RH Rosenman, pp. 173–85. New York: Hemisphere
- Yali AM, Revenson TA. 2004. How changes in population demographics will impact health psychology: incorporating a broader notion of cultural competence into the field. *Health Psychol.* 23:147–55
- Yan LL, Liu K, Matthews KA, Daviglus ML, Ferguson TF, Kiefe CI. 2003. Psychosocial factors and risk of hypertension: the Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults (CARDIA) Study. JAMA 290:2138– 48
- Zonderman AB, Costa PT, McCrae RR. 1989. Depression as a risk factor for cancer morbidity and mortality in a nationally representative sample. *JAMA* 262:1191–215
- Zonderman AB, Herbst J, Schmidt C, Costa PT, McCrae RR. 1993. Depressive symptoms as a non-specific graded risk for psychiatric diagnoses. *J. Abnorm. Psychol.* 102:544–52

## Contents

THE HISTORY AND EMPIRICAL STATUS OF KEY PSYCHOANALYTIC CONCEPTS, Lester Luborsky and Marna S. Barrett	1
DOCTORAL TRAINING IN CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY, Richard M. McFall	21
METHODOLOGICAL AND CONCEPTUAL ISSUES IN FUNCTIONAL MAGNETIC RESONANCE IMAGING: APPLICATIONS TO SCHIZOPHRENIA RESEARCH, Gregory G. Brown and Lisa T. Eyler	51
THE USE OF STRUCTURAL ANALYSIS OF SOCIAL BEHAVIOR (SASB) AS AN ASSESSMENT TOOL, Lorna Smith Benjamin, Jeffrey Conrad Rothweiler, and Kenneth L. Critchfield	83
REINTERPRETING COMORBIDITY: A MODEL-BASED APPROACH TO UNDERSTANDING AND CLASSIFYING PSYCHOPATHOLOGY, Robert F. Krueger and Kristian E. Markon	111
Women's Mental Health Research: The Emergence of a Biomedical Field, <i>Mary C. Blehar</i>	135
POSTTRAUMATIC STRESS DISORDER: ETIOLOGY, EPIDEMIOLOGY, AND TREATMENT OUTCOME, Terence M. Keane, Amy D. Marshall, and Casey T. Taft	161
THE PSYCHOPATHOLOGY AND TREATMENT OF BIPOLAR DISORDER,  David J. Miklowitz and Sheri L. Johnson	199
ATTEMPTED AND COMPLETED SUICIDE IN ADOLESCENCE, Anthony Spirito and Christianne Esposito-Smythers	237
ENDOPHENOTYPES IN THE GENETIC ANALYSES OF MENTAL DISORDERS, <i>Tyrone D. Cannon and Matthew C. Keller</i>	267
SCHIZOTYPAL PERSONALITY: NEURODEVELOPMENTAL AND PSYCHOSOCIAL TRAJECTORIES, Adrian Raine	291
AUTISM FROM DEVELOPMENTAL AND NEUROPSYCHOLOGICAL PERSPECTIVES, Marian Sigman, Sarah J. Spence, and A. Ting Wang	327
OBESITY, Anthony N. Fabricatore and Thomas A. Wadden	357
MILD COGNITIVE IMPAIRMENT AND DEMENTIA,  Marilyn S. Albert and Deborah Blacker	379

COGNITION AND AGING IN PSYCHOPATHOLOGY: FOCUS ON SCHIZOPHRENIA AND DEPRESSION, <i>Philip D. Harvey, Abraham</i>	
Reichenberg, and Christopher R. Bowie	389
CONTINGENCY MANAGEMENT FOR TREATMENT OF SUBSTANCE ABUSE, Maxine Stitzer and Nancy Petry	411
PERSONALITY AND RISK OF PHYSICAL ILLNESS, Timothy W. Smith and Justin MacKenzie	435
RECOVERED MEMORIES, Elizabeth F. Loftus and Deborah Davis	469
INDEX Subject Index	499

#### **ERRATA**

An online log of corrections to *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology* chapters (if any) may be found at http://www.AnnualReviews.org